Impact of mutualistic root fungi on crop quality and pest defense

Inaugural-Dissertation to obtain the academic degree Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Plant Sciences of the Dahlem Research School (DRS) submitted to the Department of Biology, Chemistry and Pharmacy of Freie Universität Berlin

> by Marco Cosme from Oeiras

> > 2015

This work was carried out between 2012 and 2015

under the supervision of

Prof. Dr. Susanne Wurst

Institut für Biologie of the Freie Universität Berlin, Germany and the co-supervision of

Prof. Dr. Philipp Franken

Institut für Biologie of the Humboldt Universität zu Berlin and

Prof. Dr. Matthias Erb

Institute of Plant Sciences of the University of Bern, Switzerland

1 st reviewer:	Prof. Dr. Susanne Wurst
2 nd reviewer:	Prof. Dr. Thomas Schmülling

Date of defense: 10.11.2015

Table of contents

List of publications and respective contributions
Summary
Zusammenfassung
Chapter I: General introduction
Chapter II: Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (<i>Glomus intraradices</i>) on the oviposition of rice water weevil (<i>Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus</i>)
Chapter III: A fungal endophyte helps plants to tolerate root herbivory through changes in gibberellin and jasmonate signaling
Chapter IV: Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi affect glucosinolate and mineral element composition in leaves of <i>Moringa oleifera</i>
Chapter V: Plant cytokinin status regulates the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis between <i>Nicotiana tabacum</i> and <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i>
Chapter VI: General discussion
Bibliography 116
Acknowledgments
Curriculum Vitae

List of publications and respective contributions

The present thesis is a cumulative work of four publications selected from my list of literature (already published or submitted for publication) and highlighted below by Roman numerals according to their respective chapters.

II. Cosme M, Stout M, Wurst S (2011) Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (*Glomus intraradices*) on the oviposition of rice water weevil (*Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*). <u>Mycorrhiza</u> 21: 651-658. **MC** designed and conducted the experiment, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the manuscript, and submitted it to <u>Mycorrhiza</u>. SW and MS mentored the design and reviewed the manuscript.

III. Cosme M, Lu J, Erb M, Stout MJ, Franken P, Wurst S (201X) A fungal endophyte helps plants to tolerate root herbivory through changes in gibberellin and jasmonate signaling. Submitted to <u>New Phytologist</u> NPH-MS-2015-20036. **MC** designed and conducted the experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the manuscript, and submitted it to <u>New Phytologist</u>. JL mentored laboratory analyses. ME, PF and SW mentored the design and reviewed the manuscript.

IV. Cosme M, Franken P, Mewis I, Baldermann S, Wurst S (2014) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi affect glucosinolate and mineral element composition in leaves of *Moringa oleifera*. <u>Mycorrhiza</u> 24: 565-570. **MC** designed and conducted the experiment, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the manuscript, and submitted it to <u>Mycorrhiza</u>. IM and SB mentored laboratory analyses and reviewed the manuscript. PF and SW mentored the design and reviewed the manuscript.

V. Cosme M, Ramireddy E, Franken P, Schmülling T, Wurst S (201X) The plant cytokinin status regulates the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis between *Nicotiana tabacum* and *Rhizophagus irregularis*. Submitted to <u>Mycorrhiza</u> MCOR-S-15-00129. **MC** designed and conducted the experiment, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the manuscript, and submitted it to <u>Mycorrhiza</u>. ER conducted gene expression analyses and reviewed the manuscript. TS, PF and SW mentored the design and reviewed the manuscript.

Summary

The increasing global population brings major challenges to the human food supply, whereas modern agriculture is accompanied by several environmental problems and still leaves many people hungry or malnourished. A more sustainable production and a higher nutritional value of plant foods are therefore new agricultural paradigms. Part of the solution to enhance yield and nutritional value of crop foods in a more sustainable manner might be found in the overlooked rhizosphere, where ancient plant-microbe mutualisms are known to provide important ecological functions. These microbes interact actively with plant intrinsic regulators, which in turn have the potential not only to mediate plant-microbe interactions, but also to influence plant growth, health and quality. The present thesis had two main objectives: 1) to test novel effects of beneficial microbes on crop plants related with the new agricultural paradigms; and 2) to investigate the role of intrinsic plant regulators involved in microbial effects on crop plants.

In **chapter II**, I tested whether the beneficial arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi can affect the aboveground oviposition of *Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus* (rice water weevil; RWW), a root-feeding insect of rice plants. Rice is one of the major staple foods worldwide. RWW is an important global pest of rice, whose adults feed aboveground and the larvae feed belowground. I found that AM fungi enhanced the aboveground oviposition by RWW, which is a novel aspect of agro-ecological interactions. This suggests that AM fungi can reduce rice resistance against RWW. Therefore, soil fungi that are generally considered beneficial in terms of nutrient uptake may not be beneficial in respect to protection against particular herbivores.

In **chapter III**, I tested whether an endophyte can protect root against herbivory though gibberellic acid (GA) and jasmonic acid (JA) signaling in rice. In contrast to AM fungi, the Sebacinalean root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* attenuated the negative effects of RWW on growth through induced root tolerance, without affecting root resistance. This induced tolerance was mediated by induction of GA signaling and suppression of JA signaling. Thus, belowground plant-microbe mutualisms can enhance the tolerance of a globally important crop plant in response to the attack by an insect pest. These effects were at least partially mediated by plant intrinsic regulators and should be considered in future management practices.

To explore the potential of AM fungi in improving the nutraceutical value of plant foods, in **chapter IV** I tested whether AM fungi can affect the bioactive compounds and mineral elements in edible leaves of *Moringa oleifera*, a high nutritional vegetable crop cultivated in the tropics and sub-tropics. AM fungi enhanced non-specifically the levels of glucosinolates, reduced species-specifically the levels of carotenoids, and increased the levels of two microelements in *M. oleifera* leaves. These results encourage research on other AM fungal species and their combinations to achieve general benefits on the nutraceutical value of *M. oleifera*.

The role of cytokinin (CK) levels in roots and shoots in AM symbiosis is yet unclear. In **chapter V**, I tested whether plant CK status regulates the AM symbiosis between tobacco plants and the AM fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis*. The organ-specific CK status affected profoundly the performance of tobacco in response to AM symbiosis, and suggested that CK in roots and shoots contribute to balance the nutrient exchange between symbionts.

Overall, the functions of plant-microbe mutualisms can vary considerably, while phytohormones can play a defining role in these mutualistic functions. These findings provide significant contributions to the field of plant-microbe interactions with potential for application in crop production.

Zusammenfassung

Das Bevölkerungswachstum führt erhöhten Anforderungen die globale zu an Nahrungsversorgung, die Landwirtschaft während moderne durch verschiedene umweltbedingten Problemen beeinträchtigt wird. Hunger und Unterernährung sind bleibende globale Probleme. Daher stellen nachhaltige Produktion und eine höherer Nährwert von pflanzlicher Nahrung die neuen Paradigmen der Landwirtschaft dar. Ein Teil der Lösung zur Verbesserung der Erträge und der Erhöhung des Nährwerts von Nutzpflanzen auf nachhaltige Weise könnte in der bisher vernachlässigten Rhizosphäre liegen, in der bekanntermaßen mutualisticshe Pflanzen-Mikroorganismen-Wechselwirkungen evolutionär ursprüngliche wichtige Funktionen erfüllen. Diese Mikroorganismen interagieren aktiv mit Pflanzenintrinsischen Regulatoren, welche wiederum das Potenzial haben, nicht nur die mutualistischen Wechselwirkungen zu vermitteln, sondern auch die Pflanzenwachstum, -gesundheit und qulaität zu beeiflussen. Die vorliegende Doktorarbeithat zwei zentrale Ziele: 1.) Die Überprüfung bisher unbekannter Effekte von mutualistischer Pilzen auf Nutzpflanzen in Verbindung mit den neuen landwirtschaftlichen Paradigmen und 2.) Die Untersuchung der Rolle intrinsischen Pflanzenregulatoren bei den Effekten der Mikroorganismen auf Nutzpflanzen.

In Kapitel II, überprüfte ich, ob die mutualistischen arbuskulären Mykorrhizapilze (AM) die überirdische Eiablage von Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus (Rice Water Weevil), ein sich von ernährendes Insekt, beeinflussen. Reis eines Reiswurzeln ist der wichtigsten Grundnahrungsmittel weltweit und der Rice Water Weevil (RWW) ist eine globale Plage, bei der sich die erwachsenen Tiere überirdisch und die Larven unterirdisch ernähren. Ich habe herausgefunden, dass die überirdische Eiablage des RWW durch die AM-Pilze erhöht werden kann, was einen neuen Aspekt agroökologischer Interaktionen darstellt. Daraus lässt sich vermuten, dass die AM-Pilze die Resistenz von Reis gegen den RWW reduzieren. Während diese Bodenpilze für die Nährstoffaufnahme generell als nützlich verstanden werden, trifft dies anscheinend nicht bei der Abwehr von Herbivoren zu.

In **Kapitel III**, habe ich getestet ob ein Endophyt über die Gibberellinsäure (GA) und die Jasmonsäure (JA) Signaltransduktionswege die Wurzel vor Herbivoren schützen kann. Im gegensatz zu AM-Pilzen kann der Wachstums-fördernde Wurzelendophyt *Piriformospora indica*

die negativen Auswirkung des RWW auf das Wachstum von Reis durch induzierte Wurzeltoleranz abmildern, ohne die Resistenz der Wurzel zu beeinflussen. Diese induzierte Toleranz wurde durch die Induktion des GA Signaltransdruktion und durch die Unterdrückung von JA Signaltransduktion vermittelt. So können unterirdische Pflanzen-Mikroorganismen Wechselwirkungen die Toleranz einer global sehr wichtigen Kulturpflanze als Reaktion auf die Angriffe durch ein Insektenparasit erhöhen. Diese Effekte wurden zumindest teilweise durch pflanzlich intrinsische Regulatoren vermittelt und sollten in der zukünftigen Managementpraxis berücksichtigt werden.

Um das Potenzial von AM-Pilzen für Nährstoffgehalte von Nahrungspflanzen zu untersuchen, testete ich in **Kapitel IV**, ob AM-Pilze bioaktive Komponenten und mineralische Elemente in essbaren Blättern von *Moringa oleifera* beeinflusst. *M. oleifera* ist eine hochgradig nährstoffhaltige Gemüsepflanze, die in den Tropen und Sub-Tropen kultiviert wird. AM-Pilze verbesserten unspezifisch den Gehalt an Glucosinolaten, reduzierten artspezifisch den Gehalt an Carotinoiden und erhöhten den Gehalt von zwei Mikroelementen in *M. oleifera* Blättern. Diese Ergebnisse regen zu weiteren Untersuchungen mit anderen AM-Pilz-Spezies und deren Kombinationen an, um höhere Nährstoffgehalte bei *M. oleifera* zu erzielen.

Die Rolle von Cytokininen (CK) in Wurzeln und Sprossen von AM Pflanzen ist noch weitgehemnd unbekannt. In Kapitel V habe ich überprüft, ob der Gehalt von CK die AM Symbiose zwischen Tabakpflanzen und dem AM-Pilz *Rhizophagus irregularis* reguliert. Der organ-spezifische CK Gehalt beeinflusste signifikant Wachstum und Phosphataufnahme von Tabak in Reaktion auf die AM Symbiose tiefgreifend. Dies lässt annehmen, dass CK in Wurzel und Spross einen Beitrag zur Regulation des Nährstoffaustausch zwischenden Symbionten leistet.

die Funktion mutualistischen Insgesamt kann von Pflanzen-Mikroorganismen Wechselwirkungen sehr stark variieren, während Phytohormone eine zentrale Rolle in der der mutualistischen Funktionen Regulation spielen. Die hier beschriebenen Forschungsergebnisse stellen neue Erkenntnisse für das Feld der Pflanzen-Mikroorgansimen Wechselwirkungen dar und sind von wesentlicher Bedeutung für die für die Anwendung in der Produktion von Kulturpflanzen.

Chapter I: General introduction

The global human population has increased exponentially from 1.4 billion to 7.2 billion inhabitants in less than two hundred years and is projected to reach 11.2 billion by 2100 (United Nations 2015). This dramatic increase brought major demands and challenges to the human food supply. Crop plants as the primary component of food supply are central to the solutions to these challenges, and despite the global intensification of agriculture and the great progress over the last decades that boosted food production through the breeding of high-yield crop varieties and the use of pesticides, nitrogen (N)-based fertilizers and more water, the goal to reduce the problems associated with food security is far from being reached and still left many hungry or malnourished (Welch & Graham, 1999; Waller et al., 2005; Mayer et al., 2008; Gewin, 2010). Moreover, agricultural intensification was accompanied by an alarming set of environmental problems such as the indiscriminate use of toxic chemicals, waterway pollution, loss of soil fertility by erosion, acidification, salinization and desertification (Welch & Graham, 1999; Gewin, 2010) and left a high dependence on limited resources. For instance, phosphorus (P) is one of the major plant nutrients that is least available in soils (Raghothama, 1999) and is introduced as fertilizer derived from mined phosphate rock. There is a general consensus that the quality and accessibility of remaining reserves of phosphate rock are decreasing and could be exhausted within the next 30 to 300 years (Cordell & White, 2011). In addition, our food supply appears to be failing globally by not providing enough balanced nutrient output to meet all the human nutritional needs, particularly for those living in developing regions, which often leads to severe chronic diseases due to micronutrient malnutrition (Welch & Graham, 1999; Mayer et al., 2008; Sands et al., 2009; White & Broadley, 2009). These problems are, however, indirectly linked to the effectiveness of crop roots to overcome mineral nutrient and water limitations and a part of the solution to enhance yields and nutritional value of crop foods with reduced inputs might be found in the often overlooked rhizosphere (Ryan et al., 2009; Gewin, 2010; Smith, F & Smith, S, 2011; Antunes et al., 2012). This could include for instance a better exploitation of belowground microbial mutualists which are known to perform important ecological functions in nature and were largely unnoticed during crop domestication and breeding. Advancing our understating on this belowground agro-ecological sub-system may potentially contribute to improve our ability to meet the nutritional needs of an increasing global population.

Terrestrial plants have evolved over more than 460 million years in close association with mutualistic microbes that affect the ecological dynamics of plants in nature (Redecker et al., 2000; Rillig, 2004). The mycorrhizal fungi, for instance, developed specialized structures that supply soil-derived nutrients to roots in exchange for plant-delivered photosynthates (Smith & Read, 2008; van der Heijden et al., 2015). Fossil records of fungal hyphae and spores strongly resembling those of the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi (Glomeromycota) indicate that these microbes were present at a time when terrestrial flora only consisted of bryophytes, and suggests that they may have been instrumental in facilitating the land colonization by ancient plants (Simon et al., 1993; Redecker et al., 2000). The presence of genes required for AM formation in a broad set of plant lineages, including liverworts and hornworts, suggests that mycorrhizal genes were present in the common ancestor of land plants (Wang et al., 2010), while an extensive literature survey presenting a checklist of mycorrhizal occurrence in 92 % of plant families confirms the ubiquity and ancient origin of these belowground plant-fungus mutualisms (Wang & Qiu, 2006). These are, however, not the only belowground plant mutualisms widely distributed. A recent study using DNA-based detection and electron microscopy on more than one hundred root samples from phylogenetically and ecologically diverse plants, including close to thirty plant families from four continents, suggest that Sebacinalean fungi are almost universally present as root endophytes (Weiß et al., 2011). Endophytes, as opposed to mycorrhizal or endoparasitic microbes, are microbes that colonize the tissues of living plants without forming specialized structures such as interaction apparatus or arbuscules and without causing symptoms of disease on their host plants (Wilson, 1995; Weiß et al., 2011). Some of these endophytes are able to confer protection to and promote the growth of their host plants (Waller et al., 2005; Barazani et al., 2007; Dolatabadi et al., 2011). How old the mutualisms between plants and Sebacinalean endophytes are is unclear, but these microbes can associate with bryophytes and liverworts in nature (Weiß et al., 2011), which could be indicative of a ancient nature for this endophytic life form as well.

If we would resume the history of plant-microbe mutualisms into a timescale of one calendar year with 365 days, crop plants would appear only in the last 12 hours and modern plant breeding in the last 5 minutes. Crop domestication began approximately 10,000 years ago (Doebley *et al.*, 2006; Meyer & Purugganan, 2013). Archaeological evidence suggests that humans initially planted or carried deliberately for wild plants that had favorable nutritional

traits, which then led to the domesticated species. This was followed by a diversification period involving the spread and adaptation of domesticated plants into different cultural environments. Finally, a conscious and deliberate breeding of crops was initiated. Although breeding has been practiced since early domestication (Meyer & Purugganan, 2013), it was the fundamental discoveries of Darwin and Mendel at the turn of the 20th century that established the scientific basis for plant breeding and genetics (Moose & Mumm, 2008). The most economically important crop varieties of today are a result of that intensive development period of modern breeding brought by the "Green Revolution" in the 1940s (Moose & Mumm, 2008; Gewin, 2010; Meyer & Purugganan, 2013). But how breeding has affected plant-microbe mutualisms is still an open question. For example, wheat varieties released before 1950 showed more consistent growth responses to AM fungi than varieties released afterwards, which led to the suggestion that breeding has reduced the mycorrhizal growth response of this crop (Hetrick *et al.*, 1993). However, a more recent meta-analysis on 39 publications working on 320 different crop varieties found no evidence that new crop varieties lost their ability to respond in terms of growth to their mycorrhizal symbionts (Lehmann et al., 2012). Nevertheless, from an evolutionary point of view, crop plants represent a rapid and widespread distribution of novel plant genotypes, whose complex interactions with ancient microbial mutualisms are far from being fully understood (Smith, SE & Smith, FA, 2011; Weiß et al., 2011; Pozo et al., 2015).

The benefits of microbial mutualisms to plants have been documented by many studies comparing inoculated plants with mock-inoculated controls (Wang & Qiu, 2006; Waller *et al.*, 2008; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2009; Pieterse *et al.*, 2014; van der Heijden *et al.*, 2015). These benefits may vary with different factors but generally involve improved mineral nutrition, enhanced primary productivity and fitness as well as greater tolerance and resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses. Mutualistic microbes can also indirectly effect their hosts by altering ecological processes that are important for plant growth, such as the improvement of soil structure (Siddiky *et al.*, 2012) and the reduction of the risk of nutrient loss in soils (Veresoglou *et al.*, 2012; van der Heijden *et al.*, 2015). Beneficial microbes may become, however, parasites under particular conditions (Schulz & Boyle, 2005; Kogel *et al.*, 2006; Johnson, 2010). As their benefits are context-dependent, deciphering how intrinsic plant regulators affect the plant interaction with mutualistic microbes (Jacobs *et al.*, 2011; Pieterse *et al.*, 2014; Pozo *et al.*, 2015) is an important step to understand how crops can optimize their symbiotic strategies to improve performance.

Phytohormones such as jasmonic acid (JA), gibberellic acid (GA), cytokinin (CK), abscisic acid, auxin, brassinosteroids, ethylene, salicylic acid and strigolactones are small metabolites that regulate intrinsic developmental and physiological pathways in plants but also mediate the response of these pathways to environmental cues (Erb et al., 2012b; Pozo et al., 2015). By modifying the biosynthesis, allocation or signal transduction of these metabolites, plants are able to regulate and coordinate growth, stress tolerance and/or resistance to promote survival, fitness or escape from environmental stress (Colebrook et al., 2014). For instance, JA is a universal regulator of plant induced resistance against a broad spectrum of chewing insect herbivores and necrotrophic pathogens (Howe & Jander, 2008; Pieterse et al., 2014), many of which constitute important agricultural pests and diseases. Induced resistance is a state of resistance in plants triggered by biological or chemical inducers which protects non-exposed plant parts against future attack (Pieterse et al., 2014). Plant growth-promoting bacteria and fungi in the rhizosphere can activate the plant JA signaling which induces systemic resistance in the whole plant body for enhanced defense (Pieterse et al., 2014). JA also regulates plant growth via antagonistic interactions with GA signaling (Yang et al., 2012; Heinrich et al., 2013; Matschi et al., 2015). GA is essential for developmental processes in plants, including seed germination, stem and root elongation, leaf expansion, trichome development, pollen maturation and the induction of flowering, and has been recently linked to tolerance against cold, salt and osmotic stress (Ubeda-Tomás et al., 2009; Davière & Achard, 2013). The Sebacinalean root endophyte Piriformospora indica can recruit GA signaling in roots to suppress immunity and establish a mutualistic association with its host plants (Schäfer et al., 2009; Jacobs et al., 2011). Among the phytohormones implicated in growth and development of plants, CK is a major regulator of the shoot to root ratio, shoot and root architectures, photosynthesis and nutrient uptake (Werner & Schmülling, 2009; Kieber & Schaller, 2014), and causes distinct changes in sink and source relation of photosynthetically fixed carbon (C) within the plant (Werner et al., 2008). The plant symbiotic association with AM fungi, which are biotrophs entirely dependent on plant-derived C (Smith & Read, 2008), is regulated by nearly all phytohormones (Pozo et al., 2015). Although relatively less studied, CK is known to accumulate in AM plants and could be functionally important for the symbiotic outcome as well (Drüge & Schonbeck, 1992; Shaul-Keinan et al., 2002; Cosme & Wurst, 2013). Overall, mutualistic microbes are able to interact actively with intrinsic developmental and physiological pathways of their host plants, which in turn has the

potential to mediate not only the plant-microbe mutualism but also the plant interaction with several ecological factors.

Important ecological drivers of plant yield and physiology are the heterotrophic consumers that depend on plant-derived nutrients to complete their life cycles (Wardle et al., 2004; Erb et al., 2012b). For instance, many insect herbivores that feed above- and/or belowground can have dramatic effects on their host plants by removing considerable amounts of plant tissues (Hunter, 2001; Erb et al., 2012a). Ecological linkages between soil organisms and aboveground insect herbivores has gathered increasing recognition (Bezemer et al., 2003; Wurst & Jones, 2003; Wardle et al., 2004; Soler et al., 2007). Although often ignored in studies on plant-herbivore interactions, mycorrhizal symbiosis can influence the performance of insect herbivores, but the magnitude and direction of these effects generally depend on the insect's feeding guild and the fungal identity (Gange, 2001; Koricheva et al., 2009). Therefore, a fungus that may be considered beneficial in terms of nutrient uptake may not be necessarily beneficial in terms of anti-herbivore protection, and in order to generalize about fungal functionality it would be important to collect a deeper understanding of the mechanisms behind these effects. Moreover, fungal endophytes that live within the leaf tissues of grasses are well known for their ability to produce alkaloids that deter herbivory, conferring protection to their host plants (Rodriguez et al., 2009), but the effects of root endophytes on root-herbivore interactions are largely unknown, even though they could have potential effects on plant physiological and yield responses to belowground herbivory.

The enhancement of crop yields has been traditionally the main emphasis of modern agriculture, but at the turn of the new millennium a more sustainable production and a higher nutritional value of plant foods emerged as new agricultural paradigms (Graham *et al.*, 1999; Welch & Graham, 1999; Morris & Sands, 2006; Mayer *et al.*, 2008). Nutritional-related chronic diseases in humans such as coronary heart diseases, stroke and cancers are paramount causes of mortality in high income countries worldwide (World Health Organization, 2013), and the risk of these diseases can be reduced with dietary intake of vegetable crops possessing high amounts of bioactive secondary metabolites such as carotenoids, glucosinolates, flavonoids and others (Steinmetz & Potter, 1996; Kaur & Kapoor, 2001; Liu *et al.*, 2001; Traka & Mithen, 2009). Therefore, the characterization of factors leading to the accumulation of these metabolites in

edible plant tissues has prompted much research attention. Moreover, micronutrient malnutrition, which affects the health of about 2 billion people globally, particularly of those living in developing regions, is primarily caused by nutritional deficits in iron, vitamin A, iodine, zinc, vitamin B₉, and selenium; although deficits in vitamin C, calcium, magnesium and copper are also present in some populations (Welch & Graham, 1999; Mayer *et al.*, 2008; White & Broadley, 2009). To reduce the health burden associated with micronutrient malnutrition, most of these vitamins and mineral elements have been targeted for crop biofortification (Welch & Graham, 1999; Mayer *et al.*, 2008; White & Broadley, 2009). Belowground plant-microbe mutualisms are known to affect the plant accumulation of secondary metabolites and to improve plant nutrient status (He & Nara, 2007; Antunes *et al.*, 2012; Giovannetti *et al.*, 2012; Zeng *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, these microbes could potentially help to improve the nutraceutical value of plant foods while contributing to a more sustainable crop production by reducing the agrochemical inputs.

Thesis outline

The present thesis has two main objectives: 1) to test novel effects of beneficial microbes on crop plants related with new agricultural paradigms; and 2) to investigate the role of intrinsic plant regulators involved in microbial effects on crop plants. To this end, I used the AM fungal species *Rhizophagus irregularis* (former *Glomus intraradices*) and *Funneliformis* mosseae (former *G. mosseae*) and the Sebacinalean root endophyte *P. indica* as the model beneficial microbes. The model crop plants were: rice (*Oryza sativa*), one of the most economically important cereal staples worldwide; *Moringa oleifera*, a vegetable crop with high nutraceutical value cultivated in tropics and sub-tropics; and tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*), used here essentially as a model for genetic investigation. As a model herbivore, I used the rice water weevil (RWW; *Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*), which is an important belowground pest of rice worldwide. By testing several model systems under greenhouse conditions, I intended to provide significant advances to the field of plant-microbe interactions with the following chapters:

Chapter II: Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (*Glomus intraradices*) on the oviposition of rice water weevil (*Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*)

- **Chapter III:** A fungal endophyte helps plants to tolerate root herbivory through changes in gibberellin and jasmonate signaling
- **Chapter IV:** Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi affect glucosinolate and mineral element composition in leaves of *Moringa oleifera*

Chapter V: The plant cytokinin status regulates the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis between Nicotiana tabacum and Rhizophagus irregularis

In the study presented in **chapter II**, a choice bioassay on flooded rice plants was used to test whether the root colonization by *R. irregularis* can affect the aboveground oviposition preference by adults of RWW. I hypothesized that AM colonization affects the aboveground oviposition behavior of RWW females in order to potentially optimize the performance of their root-feeding offspring. The AM fungal colonization, the plant biomass, the number of eggs laid by RWW, the consumed leaf area by RWW feeding, the concentrations and contents of N, C, and P in shoots and of N and C in roots were determined.

In the study presented in chapter III, two greenhouse experiments were carried out. In experiment I, a fully crossed factorial design was used to test whether the leaf-feeding by RWW adults aboveground influences the subsequent belowground activity of conspecific root-feeding larvae and whether prior root inoculation with P. indica can protect the rice plants against the subsequent attacks by RWW. The plant, larval and fungal performances, the root morphology, the consumed leaf area by RWW feeding, the mineral elements concentration in shoots, the accumulation of jasmonates in leaves and in roots, and the expression of GA and JA biosynthetic genes in roots were measured. In experiment II, split-root systems were combined with fully crossed factorial designs, using the same factors as in experiment I, to test whether RWW larvae reduce root growth locally or systemically within roots and whether these affects are affect by RWW leaf-feeding and/or *P. indica* inoculation. Furthermore, the JA-insensitive *coi1-18* rice mutant and the GA-deficient Euil-OX rice mutant were used as host plants in addition to their untransformed wild type to test whether JA signaling mediates the RWW effects on plant growth and whether the endophyte suppression of the effects of RWW on rice requires GA signaling. The plant and larval performances were measured with the root halves of the split-root system analyzed separately.

In the study presented in **chapter IV**, a full factorial pot experiment, initially grown in the greenhouse and later transferred to the outdoor, was conducted using *R. irregularis* and *F. mosseae* inoculated alone or simultaneously in order to determine whether the impacts of AM fungi are species-specific and whether species interact in affecting the nutraceutical value of *M. oleifera* leaves. The root colonization by AM fungi and the biomass of *M. oleifera* root, stem and leaves as well as the concentration of glucosinolates, flavonoids, phenolic acids, carotenoids, and mineral elements in leaves were determined.

In the study presented in **chapter V**, a greenhouse experiment was conducted using single or simultaneous inoculation with two different strains of *R. irregularis* on several *N. tabacum* transgenic lines differing in the CK status as well as on their untransformed wild type. It was tested whether the root CK status influences the AM symbiosis, and eventually the CK status of the shoot has a role as well, and whether AM fungal strains and/or their interaction influences the symbiotic outcome. The shoot and root biomasses, the number of flowers, the AM fungal colonization, the content of P, N and C in shoots, and the root transcript levels of phosphate transporter genes were determined.

Chapter II: Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (*Glomus intraradices*) on the oviposition of rice water weevil (*Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*)

Cosme M, Stout M, Wurst S (2011) Mycorrhiza 21: 651-658.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00572-011-0399-6

Abstract

Root-feeding insects are important drivers in ecosystems, and links between aboveground oviposition preference and belowground larval performance have been suggested. The rootcolonizing arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) play a central role in plant nutrition and are known to change host quality for root-feeding insects. However, it is not known if and how AMF affect the aboveground oviposition of insects whose offspring feed on roots. According to the preference-performance hypothesis, insect herbivores oviposit on plants that will maximize offspring performance. In a greenhouse experiment with rice (Oryza sativa), we investigated the effects of AMF (Glomus intraradices) on aboveground oviposition of rice water weevil (Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus), the larvae of which feed belowground on the roots. Oviposition (i.e., the numbers of eggs laid by weevil females in leaf sheaths) was enhanced when the plants were colonized by AMF. However, the leaf area consumed by adult weevils was not affected. Although AMF reduced plant biomass, it increased nitrogen (N) and phosphorus concentrations in leaves and N in roots. The results suggest that rice water weevil females are able to discriminate plants for oviposition depending on their mycorrhizal status. The discrimination is probably related to AMF-mediated changes in plant quality, i.e., the females choose to oviposit more on plants with higher nutrient concentrations to potentially optimize offspring performance. AMF-mediated change in plant host choice for chewing insect oviposition is a novel aspect of below- and aboveground interactions.

Chapter III: A fungal endophyte helps plants to tolerate root herbivory through changes in gibberellin and jasmonate signaling

Cosme M, Lu J, Erb M, Stout MJ, Franken P, Wurst S (201X) Submitted to New Phytologist

NPH-MS-2015-20036 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/(ISSN)1469-8137)

Summary

- Plant-microbe mutualisms improve plant defense, but the impact of root endophytes on belowground herbivore interactions remains unknown. We investigated effects of the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* on interactions between rice (*Oryza sativa*) plants and its root herbivore rice water weevil (RWW; *Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*), and how plant jasmonic acid (JA) and gibberellic acid (GA) regulate this tripartite interaction.
- Glasshouse experiments with wild type rice and *coi1-18* and *Eui1-OX* mutants combined with nutrient, jasmonate and gene expression analyses were used to test: i) whether RWW adult herbivory aboveground influences subsequent larval herbivory belowground; ii) whether *P. indica* protects plants against RWW; and iii) whether GA and JA signaling mediate these interactions.
- The endophyte induced plant tolerance to root herbivory. The RWW adults and larvae acted synergistically via JA signaling to reduce root growth, while endophyte-elicited GA biosynthesis suppressed the herbivore-induced JA in roots and recovered plant growth.
- Our study shows for the first time the impact of a root endophyte on plant defense against belowground herbivores, adds to growing evidence that induced tolerance is an important root defense, and implicates GA as signal component of inducible plant tolerance against biotic stress.

Introduction

Plants require sophisticated defense mechanisms supported by microbial alliances against a broad spectrum of heterotrophic attackers, including insect herbivores (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2009; Erb *et al.*, 2012b; Pieterse *et al.*, 2014). Herbivores attack from above- and belowground, and both shoots and roots deploy resistance mechanisms that reduce herbivore infestation and performance (Howe & Jander, 2008; Lu *et al.*, 2015) as well as tolerance mechanisms that allow regrowth and fitness recovery after tissue damage (Strauss & Agrawal, 1999; Poveda *et al.*, 2010; Robert *et al.*, 2014). Compared to the well-documented role of microbes in induced plant resistance aboveground (Hartley & Gange, 2009; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2009; Pieterse *et al.*, 2014), little is known about microbial mechanisms leading to plant defense against belowground herbivores.

Plants typically allocate more than 50 % of primary production to belowground tissues, where insect herbivores of at least 25 families feed on roots, including many critical agricultural pests (Hunter, 2001; Erb *et al.*, 2012a). Losses of plant productivity caused by root herbivory can be amplified when combined with aboveground herbivory (Zvereva & Kozlov, 2012). Combined shoot and root injury is a scenario common for many insect species whose adults feed on leaves and whose larvae feed on roots (Clark *et al.*, 2011; Cosme *et al.*, 2011; Currie *et al.*, 2011).

The perception of aboveground chewing herbivory by plants triggers a sophisticated defensive machinery with jasmonic acid (JA) as the central signal (Howe & Jander, 2008). JA can also reduce shoot growth via antagonistic interaction with the gibberellic acid (GA) signaling pathway (Yang *et al.*, 2012; Heinrich *et al.*, 2013; Matschi *et al.*, 2015). Regulation of GA biosynthesis and interactions between DELLA and JAZ proteins are central to JA and GA signaling crosstalk which ultimately modulates growth-defense trade-off in shoots. Several lines of evidence suggest that JA may regulate root resistance to belowground herbivores: i) root herbivory induces JA signaling in roots (Lu *et al.*, 2015); ii) exogenous application of jasmonates reduces root herbivore infestation and survival (McConn *et al.*, 1997; Omer *et al.*, 2000; Hamm *et al.*, 2010; Lu *et al.*, 2015); and iii) JA-deficient rice plants may suffer stronger root damage by belowground herbivory (Lu *et al.*, 2015). However, roots commonly display a much weaker herbivore-induced JA burst than leaves and other plant signals might be more important for

induced defenses to belowground herbivores (Erb *et al.*, 2012a; Acosta *et al.*, 2013). JA can also reduce root growth as demonstrated by exogenous application of MeJA (Staswick *et al.*, 1992; Moons *et al.*, 1997; Lu *et al.*, 2015), whereas GA promotes root growth by controlling cell elongation and root meristem size (Ubeda-Tomás *et al.*, 2009). Whether JA and GA signaling crosstalk regulates regrowth as a tolerance mechanism against root herbivores remains to be determined.

Plant signaling pathways can be also modulated by endophytes, i.e. non-pathogenic microbes that often colonize plants in nature without forming detectable interaction structures or producing visible disease symptoms in the plant (Jacobs *et al.*, 2011; Weiß *et al.*, 2011). Among the Sebacinalean root endophytes, *Piriformospora indica* is a model organism with an exceptionally broad host range that significantly enhances plant productivity and protects plants against abiotic stress and pathogens (Varma *et al.*, 1999; Barazani *et al.*, 2005; Waller *et al.*, 2005; Qiang *et al.*, 2012). To suppress the host immunity, *P. indica* requires JA signaling in roots during biotrophic root colonization, while during cell death-associated colonization the endophyte recruits GA signaling to degrade DELLAs and establish cell apoptosis susceptibility (Schäfer *et al.*, 2009; Jacobs *et al.*, 2011). To date, the impact of root endophytes on belowground herbivore interactions remains unknown.

Here, we investigated the effects of *P. indica* on rice (*Oryza sativa*) defense against its major root pest, the rice water weevil (RWW; *Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*). RWW is native to North America but now present in rice paddies around the globe (Stout *et al.*, 2013). The adults feed on leaves without causing significant damage, but the root-feeding larvae markedly reduce rice productivity. Using this system, we addressed the following questions: i) does aboveground feeding by RWW adults influence the subsequent activity of their conspecific larvae belowground? ii) Does prior root colonization by *P. indica* protect rice plants against RWW attack? And iii) do JA and GA signaling pathways in rice mediate this tripartite interaction?

Materials and methods

Plants, fungi, insects, and soil

Wild type (WT) rice (*Oryza sativa*, cultivar Nipponbare) was used as the background of all plant mutants. In experiment (Exp) I, we used WT seeds kindly provided by Dr. Claus-Peter Witte (FUB, Germany). In Exp II, we used seeds of WT, *coi1-18* and *Eui1-OX* kindly provided by Prof. Dr. Zuhua He (Chinese Academy of Sciences, China). Plants were germinated on Murashige and Skoog medium in Petri dishes during 3 d and planted according to the experimental designs.

The fungal root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* (Sebacinales, Basidiomycota) was propagated at the Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops (Großbeeren, Germany) by routine procedures on potato dextrose agar (PDA) in Petri dishes for Exp I or in liquid culture containing a complete medium for Exp II (Verma *et al.*, 1998).

Adults of rice water weevil (RWW; *Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*, Coleoptera: Curculionidae) were collected from flooded rice fields at the Louisiana State University (Louisiana, USA) and maintained in a laboratory as described (Cosme *et al.*, 2011). RWW adults were captured *in copula* and used in the leaf infestation bioassays. RWW neonates were reared *in vivo* using freshly germinated rice seedlings and were used in the root infestation bioassays (Zhang *et al.*, 2004).

A sandy loam soil from Berlin (52° 28'N, 13° 18'E) was sieved and mixed with peat (Floragard Vertriebs GmbH, Oldendurg, Germany) and sand (CEMEX GmbH, Kraatz, Germany) to produce the soil substrate (2 : 1 : 1, v : v). The soil substrate was fertilized in the pots with 125 mL of 0.05 % solution of GABI Plus 12-8-11 N-P-K fertilizer (Detia Freyberg GmbH, Laudenbach, Germany) per L of soil substrate.

Exp I: design and growth conditions

To test whether leaf-feeding by RWW adults aboveground influences the subsequent belowground activity of conspecific root-feeding larvae, we conducted a full factorial experiment in a glasshouse (16 h light and 22°/28°C night/day temperatures). The roots of 3-d-old WT rice

seedlings were dipped overnight in sterile 0.05 % Tween-20 aqueous solution to establish the control for *P. indica* inoculation (described below) (n = 32). Each seedling was then planted into 16 cm x 16 cm round Teku pots filled with 2 L of soil substrate. To confine the roots and larvae within the pot, a Plantex DuPont mesh had been previously glued with silicone onto the bottom of each pot. The soil substrate was routinely moistened with tap water. Fifteen d after germination, a 7 cm x 5 cm round clip cage was attached to the first leaf with a mating pair of RWW adults inside (Fig. III.1a) (n = 16). An identical clip cage without adults (n = 16) was clipped to uninfested control plants. All plants infested with RWW adults showed leaf feeding scars 2 d after infestation. The adults were then recollected, the clip cage was removed, and a photo of the injured leaf was recorded using a standardized focal distance. Control plants were photographed under the same conditions. The photos were analyzed using WinDIAS 3.1 software (Delta-T Devices, Cambridge, UK) to determine the leaf area consumed by RWW adults. The pots were placed into 24 cm x 20 cm round plastic buckets and flooded with tap water 23 d after germination. In the field, the presence of standing water triggers RWW oviposition and females lay eggs in submerged rice shoots (Stout *et al.*, 2002). To establish the root infestation, 36 d after germination the plants with adult feeding scars (n = 8) and their corresponding controls without scars (n = 8) received 8 neonates per plant over 4 d. Infestation of 8 or more neonates per plants is common in the field (Stout *et al.*, 2013). The remaining plants were not infested with larvae as controls (n = 8 + 8). To test whether *P. indica* can defend the rice plants against RWW attacks, we simultaneously conducted the same RWW treatments described above on rice plants inoculated with P. indica (n = 32). The inoculation was established by dipping the roots of 3-d-old WT rice seedlings overnight in 0.05 % Tween-20 aqueous solution containing 4.9 x 10^7 ml⁻¹ chlamydospores of *P. indica*. The RWW larvae develop through four instars in 21-27 d before forming pupae (Hamm et al., 2010). To provide the utmost exposure of larvae to roots and avoid eclosion, rice plants were harvested 22 d after neonate infestation (58 d after germination). All experimental plants (n = 64) were treated and distributed in randomized fashion on a glasshouse table.



Fig. III.1 For figure legend, see next page.

Figure III.1. *Schematic representation of a clip cage and a split-root system.* (a) Clip cage attached to the first leaf of a rice plant infested with a mating couple of RWW adults. The clip cage consisted of two plastic transparent cups with a joint made of polyurethane foam to avoid injuring the leaf, a top made in nylon mesh on the upper cup to allow transpiration, and a wood support suspending the cage weight to minimize pressure on the plant. Uninfested plants received a similar clip cage without adults inside. (b) Split-root system used in experiment II to test within roots systemic effects. The split-root system consisted of two hydroponic squared pots paired side-by-side, with the root system equally divided in two halves, where one root-half received soil treatments (endophyte and/or RWW larvae) and the other root-half was left untreated. The endophyte inoculation was added to one side by filling half of the hydroponic pot with a soil previously mixed with endophyte mycelium. Uninoculated plants had a similarly pot side half filled with soil previously mixed with autoclaved mycelium.

Exp I: plant, larval and fungal performance

To determine the performance of plants from Exp I described above, the shoots and roots were excised separately 58 d after germination, the number of tillers was counted and the soil substrate was carefully washed from roots. Subsamples of the youngest leaf and of intact root tissue without visible symptoms of wounding were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C to analyze jasmonates and gene expression as described below. To recover larvae 22 d after neonate infestation, the soil substrate and roots were screened methodically in buckets filled with water. The larvae and pupae were counted as they floated to the surface (Zou *et al.*, 2004). Fresh weights of insects and plants were measured. The total root length and average root diameter was determined using WinRhizo software (Regent Instruments Inc, Québec, Canada) as described (Cosme & Wurst, 2013). To determine endophyte performance 55 d after inoculation, subsamples of root fragments were stained using trypan blue solution and then destained prior to observation at the microscope (Phillips & Hayman, 1970). The root colonization by the endophyte was quantified as the percentage of microscope fields of view containing root segments with chlamydospores (McGonigle *et al.*, 1990).

Exp I: mineral elements in shoot

After measuring plant biomass, the shoots of the 58-d-old rice plants were dried in an oven (60 °C for 1 wk) and homogenized into a fine powder using sintered corundum alumina jars and balls in a Planetary Micro Mill Pulverisette 7 (Fritsch, Idar-Oberstein, Germany). To assess the mineral nutrition status of rice plants, the concentration of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P),

potassium (K), calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), sulfur (S), manganese (Mn), iron (Fe), zinc (Zn), boron (B), copper (Cu) and molybdenum (Mo) in shoots were measured using a CN Elemental Analyzer (Euro EA, HEKAtech GmbH, Wegberg, Germany) or a Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectrometer (iCAP ICP-OES Duo, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Massaschusetts, USA) as described (Cosme *et al.*, 2014).

Exp I: jasmonates in leaves and roots

To quantify the jasmonate homeostasis of 58-d-old rice plants, i.e. 43 d after leaf infestation with RWW adults and 22 d after root infestation with RWW neonates, 12-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), JA and jasmonoyl-isoleucine (JA-Ile) were extracted from frozen leaf and root subsamples (n = 8) following Lu et al (2015). The extracts were analyzed by liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry using an API 3200TM LC/MS/MS system (Applied Biosystems, Framingham, USA) as described (Vadassery et al., 2012).

Exp I: gene expression in roots

Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) analyses were conducted following Lu et al (2015). To assess *de novo* biosyntheses in JA and GA signaling pathways, we analyzed the gene expression of JA-IIe synthase *OsJAR1* (Riemann *et al.*, 2008) and *ent*-Kaurene synthase *OsKS1* (Sakamoto et al., 2004) (Table III.S1), respectively. To normalize cDNA concentrations, we used the rice actin *OsACT* as housekeeping gene (Table III.S1). qRT-PCR was performed with Mx3000P qPCR System (Stratagene, La Jolla, USA) using Brilliant III Ultra-Fast SYBR[®] Green QPCR Master Mix (Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, USA). The relative expression levels of genes were calculated by using the double standard curve method.

Exp II: design and growth conditions

To test whether RWW larvae reduce root growth locally or systemically within roots, we repeated the RWW infestation treatments applied in Exp I (described above) with minor alterations adapted to a split-root system (Fig. III.1b), in which only one half of the root system was treated with RWW larvae. Hydroponic 1L square pots were paired by gluing two pots side-by-side. Each pot was filled with 500 mL of soil substrate before transplanting. One side of the

split-root systems assigned to RWW larval infestation (n = 16) and to uninfested controls (n = 16)16) received a mock inoculum of autoclaved (121 °C for 20 min) endophyte mycelium (4 mg) to establish the control for endophyte inoculation (described below) (n = 32). To allow enough root growth before transplanting, 3-d-old WT rice seedlings were planted in nursery trays filled with 60 mL of soil substrate per vessel. Rice roots were carefully washed 20 d after germination and transplanted into the split-root system by dividing the roots into two halves. Each pot side of the split-root systems was then filled with 500 mL additional soil substrate to completely cover the root system, resulting in 2 L of soil subtract for each plant. 26 d after germination, a clip cage was attached to the first leaf with a couple of RWW adults inside (n = 16). An identical clip cage without adults was attached to control plants (n = 16). The split-root systems were flooded with tap water 28 d after germination. The plants with adult feeding scares (n = 8) and their controls (n = 8) received 16 RWW neonates in one half of the root system 30 d after germination. The remaining plants were kept uninfested as control (n = 8 + 8). To test whether the endophyte inhibits the systemic effects of RWW larvae on root growth, we conducted simultaneously the same RWW treatments in the split-root systems (described above) using pots previously inoculated with endophyte (n = 32). The inoculation was established by mixing 4 mg of endophyte mycelium into the pot-side assigned to RWW larvae (n = 16) or one pot-side in the uninfested larval control (n = 16) before transplanting the rice plants. To test whether JA signaling mediates the RWW effects on plant growth, we conducted the same experimental treatments simultaneously in split-root systems using JA-insensitive coil-18 rice mutant as the host plant (Yang *et al.*, 2012). To test whether the endophyte suppression of the effects of RWW on rice requires GA signaling, we simultaneously conducted the same experimental treatments in split-root system using the GA-deficient *Eui1-OX* rice mutant as host plant (Zhu *et al.*, 2006). All experimental plants (n = 192) were treated and distributed in randomized fashion in glasshouse (14 h light, 24/28 °C night/day temperatures) and were harvested 28 d after neonate infestation (58 d after germination).

Exp II: plant, larval and fungal performance

We analyzed the same performance parameters described in Exp I with the exception of root morphology. The root halves from the split-root system were excised and analyzed separately.

Exp II: chlorophyll content in leaves

To determine whether the changes in plant growth following RWW attacks and endophyte inoculation could be explained by changes in chlorophyll, we determined chlorophyll content in leaves of WT, *coi1-18* and *Eui1-OX* rice plants. The chlorophyll was quantified non-destructively 56 d after germination using a portable chlorophyll meter (SPAD 502; Konica Minolta, Tokyo, Japan) that provides an index value positively correlated with chlorophyll. The measurements were conducted in all treatments (n = 8) on 3 different young leaves per plant with 3 repetitions per leaf.

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in R Studio Desktop software (http://www.rstudio.com/). All data on plant responses were analyzed by factorial three-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) with the two-level factors "Endophyte" (-, +), "RWW adults" (-, +) and "RWW larvae" (-, +). Consumed leaf area by RWW adults was analyzed by one-way ANOVA with the two-level factor "Endophyte". Endophyte root colonization was analyzed by two-way ANOVA with the two-level factors "RWW adults" and "RWW larvae". Data on larval performance were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with the two-level factors "Endophyte" and "RWW adults". We checked the assumptions of ANOVA (using Shapiro and Levene test), and data were transformed if necessary. When transformation did not meet assumptions, or when a sample size differed, we performed ANOVA using general linear model (GLM) with best fitted family errors.

Results

Experiment I

Root herbivory decreases endophyte fitness

Plant infestation with RWW larvae (Fig. III.2g) reduced the endophytic chlamydospore (Fig. III.2e) colonization (two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 4.368, P = 0.046) from 43.19 ± 5.99 % in uninfested plants to 26.69 ± 5.21 % in plants infested for 22 d (Mean \pm SE; n = 16). The 2 d infestation with RWW adults (Fig. III.2f) in 15-d-old rice plants did not change the chlamydospore colonization at the end of the experiment (n = 16; two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 2.359, P = 0.136). Neither did the interaction between adult and larval infestations (n = 8; two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 0.001, P = 0.975).

P. indica does not affect plant resistance against RWW

The consumed leaf area by RWW adults was not altered by the endophyte (n = 16; one-way ANOVA, df = 30, F = 0.206, P = 0.653) and was on average 0.244 ± 0.019 cm² (Mean \pm SE, n = 32). Furthermore, the survival of RWW larvae was not altered by the endophyte (n = 16; two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 0.173, P = 0.681), RWW adult feeding (n = 16; two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 0.223), or their interaction (n = 8; two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 0.000, P = 1.000). Survival of RWW larvae averaged 46.88 \pm 3.68 % (n = 32). Likewise, the weight of RWW larvae and pupae was on average 17.16 \pm 1.31 mg (n = 32) and was not affected by the endophyte (n = 16; two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 0.142, P = 0.709), or their interaction (n = 8; two-way ANOVA, df = 28, F = 0.080, P = 0.779). Taken together, these results indicate that the fungal endophyte did not affect the leaf and root resistance against RWW in this experiment.

P. indica restores growth of herbivore attacked plants

RWW adults alone did not affect plant biomass, whereas considerable plant damage was found in endophyte-free plants infested with RWW larvae, i.e. endophyte-free plants infested with RWW larvae produced 32 % less shoot biomass (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 5.371, P = 0.024; Fig. III.2a), had 18 % fewer tillers (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 9.534, P = 0.003; Fig.

III.2b), and produced 32 % less root biomass (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 7.001, P = 0.011; Fig. III.2c) compared with endophyte-free uninfested plants. The most remarkable result was the impact of the endophyte on the growth of plants infested with RWW larvae. Endophyteinoculated plants infested with RWW larvae gained 26 % more shoot biomass (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 5.371, P = 0.024; Fig. III.2a), and produced 27 % more tillers (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 9.534, P = 0.003; Fig. III.2b) and 36 % more root biomass (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 7.001, P = 0.011; Fig. III.2c) compared with endophyte-free plants infested with RWW larvae. In addition, we found that RWW adults enhanced the negative effect of their conspecific larvae on total root length in endophyte-free plants (n = 8; three-way ANOVA, F =6.176, P = 0.016; Fig. III.2d), causing together a 74 % decrease in total root length compared with that of endophyte-free uninfested plants. However, the endophyte suppressed this additive negative effect by RWW adults and larvae (n = 8; three-way ANOVA, F = 6.176, P = 0.016; Fig. III.2d). By contrast, the average root diameter was 7 % larger (n = 32; three-way ANOVA, F =12.295, P < 0.001) in plants infested with RWW larvae (0.281 ± 0.003 mm) compared with the average root diameter (0.263 \pm 0.004 mm) of uninfested plants, and was not affected by the endophyte, the RWW adults or the interactions between factors (Table III.S2).



Figure III.2. *P. indica restores growth of herbivore attacked plants.* Rice plants (variety Nipponbare) were inoculated with the fungal root 'endophyte' *Piriformospora indica* 3 days after germination (DAG), then infested aboveground on the first leaf with rice water weevil (RWW) 'adults' 15 DAG, and finally infested belowground with RWW 'larvae' 36 DAG, in a fully crossed experiment. (a) shoot biomass, (b) tiller number, (c) root biomass, and (d) total root length were measured 58 DAG and their values were analyzed by three-way ANOVA. Mean \pm SE, n = 8. Significant *P* values of the higher level interaction effects are shown (E = endophyte; A = adults; L = larvae). For other *P* values see Table III.S2. (e) Trypan blue-stained root segment of rice colonized by endophytic chlamydospores (black arrow) 55 d after inoculation (bars = 50 µm). (f) Couple of RWW adults (white arrows) inside a clip cage chewing on the first leaf of a 15-d-old rice plant. (c) RWW larva (white arrow) dwelling in rice roots and visible symptoms of larval pruning (black arrow) 22 d after root infestation with RWW neonates.

The RWW larvae were found to reduce the mass fraction of P (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 64.938, P < 0.001; Table III.S3), K (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 7.353, P = 0.009; Table III.S3) and Mn (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 12.659, P < 0.001; Table III.S3) in shoots by 16, 6 and 12 % compared with that of uninfested plants, respectively. Despite the root pruning by herbivores, we discovered that plants infested with RWW larvae accumulated 17 % more Ca (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 39.657, P < 0.001; Table III.S3) and B (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 23.289, P < 0.001; Table III.S3) and tended to accumulate more S (Table III.S3) in shoots compared with uninfested plants. Furthermore, the endophyte led to a 7 % reduction of Ca in shoots (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 6.743, P = 0.012; Table III.S3) and a small but significant 5 % increase of P in shoots (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 5.205, P = 0.026; Table III.S3) compared with that of endophyte-free plants, and interacted with RWW larvae to suppress the larvae-mediated increase of Mo in shoots (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 4.313, P = 0.042; Table III.S3). The RWW adults and the other interactions between factors did not affect nutrient accumulation in shoots and the levels of N, Mg, Zn, Fe, and Cu in shoots persisted unaltered in this experiment (Table III.S3).

P. indica induces GA biosynthesis and suppresses herbivore-induced JA in roots

To profile plant JA signaling response to above- and belowground herbivory under endophyte colonization, we quantified the amounts of OPDA, JA and JA-Ile in leaves and in roots of rice. Plants infested 15 d after germination for 2 d with RWW adults produced 99 % more OPDA (n =32; three-way GLM, F = 4.732, P = 0.034; Fig. III.3a), 130 % more JA (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 6.420, P = 0.014; Fig. III.3a) and 68 % more JA-Ile (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 5.340, P =0.025; Fig. III.3a) in leaves at the end of the experiment compared with uninfested plants. Furthermore, we found that plants infested with RWW larvae had 56 % less JA (n = 32; threeway GLM, F = 4.554, P = 0.037; Fig. III.3a) and tended to have less OPDA and JA-IIe in leaves compared with uninfested plants (Table III.S4; Fig. III.3a). Moreover, OPDA, JA and JA-Ile in leaves were not affected by the endophyte or by the interactions between factors (Table III.S4, Fig. III.3a). Endophyte-free plants infested with RWW larvae accumulated 52 % more JA in roots compared with uninfested plants without endophyte, but when plants were inoculated with the endophyte this JA accumulation was suppressed (n = 15-16; three-way GLM, F = 4.113, P =0.047; Fig. III.3b). Moreover, the levels of JA-Ile in roots were induced by RWW larvae (n = 30-31; three-way GLM, F = 14.864, P < 0.001; Fig. III.3b) and tended to be reduced by the endophyte (n = 30-31; Table III.S4, Fig. III.3b). Although the RWW adults did not significantly affect levels of JA and JA-Ile in roots they apparently enhanced the induction by their conspecific larvae (Fig. III.3b). The root level of OPDA was not induced by RWW larvae, neither was it affected by the endophyte, RWW adults, or the interactions between factors (Table III.S4, Fig. III.3b).

We found no significant effects on the transcription level of *OsJAR1* and observed a trend for an interaction between endophyte and larvae suggesting that the endophyte suppressed the larvae negative effect (Table III.S5, Fig. III.3c). The endophyte elicited 20 % more transcription of *OsKS1* in roots compared with that of endophyte-free plants (n = 30-31; three-way GLM, F = 6.037, P = 0.017; Fig. III.3d). In contrast, the transcription level of *OsKS1* was found to be 54 % lower in roots infested with RWW larvae compared with uninfested roots (n = 30-31; three-way GLM, F = 48.198, P < 0.001; Fig. III.3d). Furthermore, we observed a trend for an interaction between the endophyte, the RWW adults, and the RWW larvae on the transcription level of *OsKS1* in roots (n = 7-8; Table III.S5, Fig. III.3d), i.e. endophyte-inoculated plants infested with

RWW adults, larvae or both tended to have higher transcription level of *OsKS1* in roots compared with their respective endophyte-free control plants, but this difference was stronger in plants infested only with RWW adults.



Fig. III.3. For figure legend, see next page.

Figure III.3. *Piriformospora indica induces a synthase gene of gibberellic acid pathway and suppresses herbivore-induced jasmonic acid in roots.* Rice plants (variety Nipponbare) were inoculated with the fungal root 'endophyte' *Piriformospora indica* 3 days after germination (DAG), then infested aboveground on the first leaf with rice water weevil (RWW) 'adults' 15 DAG, and finally infested belowground with RWW 'larvae' 36 DAG, in a fully crossed experiment. The level of 12-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), jasmonic acid (JA), and jasmonoyl-isoleucine (JA-Ile) in leaves (a) and in roots (b) were measured. The relative transcription levels in roots of JA-Ile synthase *OsJAR1* (c) gene and the *ent*-Kaurene synthase *OsKS1* (d) gene of gibberellic acid pathway were determined. All values were analyzed by three-way ANOVA using GLM. Mean \pm SE, n = 8 for (a), and n = 7-8 for (b,c,d). Significant *P* values of the higher level interaction or the main factors effects are shown (E = endophyte; A = adults; L = larvae). For other *P* values see Table S4 for (a,b) and S5 for (c,d).

Experiment II

Endophyte and herbivore have dissimilar effects on systemic plant growth responses

Adding RWW larvae to only one half of the root system disabled their negative effect on WT shoot biomass, while no systemic effects within WT roots were found on the uninfested root-half biomass (Table III.S6; Fig. III.4a). However, RWW larvae reduced (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 4.030, P = 0.049, Fig. III.4a) and tended to interact with RWW adults to reduce (n = 16; Table III.S6, Fig. III.4a) the infested root-half biomass, suggesting that prior adult herbivory worsened the negative effect by their conspecific larvae on WT root biomass. By contrast, the endophyte increased the biomass of the inoculated WT root-half (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 5.223, P = 0.026; Fig. III.4a), increased systemically the WT shoot biomass (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 4.738, P = 0.034; Fig. III.4a) and tended to increase systemically within roots the biomass of the uninoculated WT root-half (n = 32; Table III.S6; Fig. III.4a) compared with that of endophyte-free WT plants. Taken together, the root herbivory damage in WT rice was primarily local but was systemically worsened by the prior leaf herbivory, whereas the endophyte had wider and positive systemic effects on WT plant biomass.

JA and GA antagonize systemic effects on plant growth

In contrast to the observed effects on WT plants, no effects of RWW adults or larvae were detected on any of the measured plant biomass components of the JA-insensitive *coi1-18* rice

mutant (Table III.S6, Fig. III.4b), suggesting that JA signaling is involved in mediating the reduction in growth of WT plants in response to RWW attack. By contrast, *coi1-18* plants inoculated with the endophyte had larger biomasses of shoots (n = 31-32; three-way GLM, F =16.305, P < 0.001; Fig. III.4b), of uninoculated root-half (n = 31-32; GLM, F = 19.430, P < 10000.001; Fig. III.4b) and inoculated root-half (n = 31-32; three-way GLM, F = 17.243, P < 0.001; Fig. III.4b) compared with endophyte-free coil-18 plants. As these effects were stronger than those observed on WT plants, this confirms that JA signaling is a negative regulator of P. indica plant-growth-promoting effects (Barazani et al., 2005). By contrast, when the same fully crossed experiment using a split-root system was conducted on GA-deficient Euil-OX rice mutant, the endophyte had no detectable effects on any of the measured plant biomass components (Table III.S6, Fig. III.4c). However, Euil-OX plants infested with RWW larvae had reduced biomasses of shoots (n = 29-31; three-way GLM, F = 5.612, P = 0.022; Fig. III.4c) and of infested root-half (n = 29-31; three-way GLM, F = 5.789, P = 0.020; Fig. III.4c) compared with uninfested *Euil*-OX plants. This suggests that shoot growth inhibition by RWW larvae is counteracted by GA in WT plants. Finally, no RWW adult or interaction effects were detected on any of the measured biomass component of *coi1-18* and *Eui1-OX* plants (Table III.S6, Fig. III.4b,c).


Fig. III.3. For figure legend, see next page.

Figure III.4. *Piriformospora indica and rice water weevil have dissimilar effects on systemic plant growth responses and jasmonic acid and gibberellic acid antagonize respectively these effects.* The rice (variety Nipponbare) wild-type (WT), the JA-insensitive *coi1-18*, or the GA-deficient *Eui1-OX* mutant were planted 20 days after germination (DAG) in a split-root system where only one half of the root was treated with the fungal root 'endophyte' *Piriformospora indica*, then infested aboveground on the first leaf with rice water weevil (RWW) 'adults' 26 DAG, and finally infested in the same root-half with RWW 'larvae' 30 DAG, leaving the other root-half untreated, in fully crossed experiments. The biomasses of shoots, of untreated root-half and of treated root-half of the WT (a), *coi1-18* (b), and *Eui1-OX* (c) plants were measured and their values were analyzed by three-way ANOVA or GLM. Mean \pm SE, n = 8 for (a), n = 7-8 for (b,c). Significant *P* values of main factors effects are shown (E = endophyte; A = adults; L = larvae). For other *P* values see Tables III.S6.

GA restores chlorophyll content of herbivore attacked plants

The chlorophyll concentrations in WT leaves were not affected by any factor or their interactions (Table III.S6) and was on average 30.34 ± 0.77 SPDA units (Mean ± SE, n = 64). The endophyte reduced the chlorophyll concentration in *coi1-18* leaves (n = 32; three-way GLM, F = 5.386, P = 0.024), from 37.34 ± 0.92 in endophyte-free to 34.40 ± 0.89 SPDA units in endophyte-inoculated *coi1-18* plants. No other effects were detected on chlorophyll in *coi1-18* leaves (Table III.S6). The RWW larvae reduced the chlorophyll concentration in *Eui1-OX* leaves (n = 30-31; three-way GLM, F = 7.281, P = 0.009), from 40.03 ± 0.88 in uninfested to 35.09 ± 1.42 SPDA units in *Eui1-OX* plants infested with RWW larvae. No other effects were detected on chlorophyll in *Eui1-OX* leaves (Table III.S6).

Susceptibility against RWW larvae in P. indica-colonized plants is reduced by JA signaling

The survival and weight of RWW larvae in WT plants was not affected by the endophyte, the RWW adults or their interaction (Table III.S7) and was on average 33.79 ± 3.60 % (Mean \pm SE; n = 32) and 7.73 ± 0.22 mg (n = 29), respectively. The endophyte increased the survival of RWW larvae in *coi1-18* plants (n = 16; three-way ANOVA, F = 9.048, P = 0.006), from 24.22 \pm 4.03 to 42.58 \pm 4.61 % compared endophyte-free *coi1-18* plants. Neither RWW adults nor the interaction between adults and endophyte affected the larval survival in *coi1-18* plants (Table III.S7). The weight of RWW larvae on *coi1-18* plants was not affected by the endophyte, the RWW adults or their interaction (Table III.S7) and was on average 7.07 \pm 0.24 mg (n = 31). In

Eui1-OX plants, the survival of RWW larvae was not affected by the endophyte, the RWW adults or their interaction (Table III.S7) and was on average $22.07 \pm 3.68 \%$ (n = 32), while *Eui1-OX* plants infested with RWW adults tended to increase the growth of RWW larvae from 7.52 ± 0.32 to 8.97 ± 0.67 mg compared with control *Eui1-OX* plants uninfested with adults (n = 12; Table III.S7).

Discussion

Mutualistic interactions between higher plants and microbes are increasingly recognized as important factors in terrestrial ecosystems. Positive effects of Sebacinalean root endophytes on plant growth, fitness, defense against pathogens, tolerance to salt stress, as well as negative effects on resistance to leaf herbivory have been documented (Varma et al., 1999; Barazani et al., 2005; Waller et al., 2005; Camehl et al., 2010), but their impact on root-herbivore interactions is unknown. Barazani et al (2005) reported that S. vermifera decreased the activity of proteinase inhibitors (PIs) in leaves of Nicotiana attenuata and consequently reduced leaf resistance to herbivory by Manduca sexta. This reduction resulted from endophyte-inhibited ET signaling independent of JA signaling (Barazani et al., 2007). Our study demonstrates that plantherbivore interactions are also affected by P. indica, a model endophyte with agronomic potential (Qiang et al., 2012). Contrary to Barazani et al (2005), we observed an endophyteenhanced defense to herbivory mediated by induced root tolerance, i.e. P. indica-colonized plants infested with RWW larvae gained more shoot biomass, tillers, root biomass and total root length compared with plants infested with larvae without P. indica, but the root resistance measured as larval survival and growth was not affected by the endophyte. Therefore, Sebacinalean root endophytes, in addition to protecting plants against root and shoot pathogens and salt stress (Waller et al., 2005), can improve plant defense against root herbivores.

Although *P. indica* can affect ET signaling in roots (Camehl *et al.*, 2010; Khatabi *et al.*, 2012), ET does not regulate rice resistance or tolerance to root herbivory (Lu *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, we found no activity of PIs in submerged roots of rice (data not shown), confirming recent results (Lu *et al.*, 2015). Thus, different signaling pathways for defense in above and belowground tissues might explain why Sebacinalean-mediated plant response to herbivory in our study contrasts with previous studies (Barazani *et al.*, 2005; Barazani *et al.*, 2007). Consistent with the current literature (Lu *et al.*, 2015), we found only an attenuated 2-fold induction of JA in roots following root herbivory. This induction, however, was suppressed by *P. indica* without obvious effects on root resistance, i.e. the survival and growth of the larvae was unchanged. JA is perceived as master regulator of induced resistance to chewing herbivores (Howe & Jander, 2008), but the role of JA in roots has been considered elusive (Erb *et al.*, 2012a). For instance, the application of MeJA to rice roots reduced the survival of RWW larvae,

but *hebiba* roots which have a constitutive reduction of JA content did not affect the larval survival or growth, whereas asLOX roots impaired in OPDA biosynthesis reduced larval growth due to lower nutritional quality of herbivore-attacked roots, suggesting that 13-lipoxygenase specifically improves root herbivore growth (Lu et al., 2015). Interestingly, in our study the OPDA levels were not induced by herbivory in roots, in contrast to leaves. Furthermore, we found that larval performance in WT roots was similar to that in *coi1-18* roots in absence of *P*. *indica*, suggesting that herbivore-induced JA signaling in roots is decoupled from root resistance. However, the enhanced larval survival in P. indica-colonized coil-18 roots compared to P. indica-colonized WT roots suggests that JA signaling prevents the endophyte from increasing root susceptibility. Moreover, the RWW larvae also induced JA-Ile in roots, while OsJAR1 expression was not affected. Even though JA signaling can regulate root resistance, plants may benefit from attenuating positive feedback loops of JA biosynthesis in roots to avoid nutritional enrichment that favors root herbivore growth and therefore could lead to greater injury. Taken together, an attenuated induction of JA in roots seems insufficient to affect the performance of RWW larvae, which could explain why P. indica-mediated suppression of herbivore-induced JA in roots did not affect root resistance.

A fundamental aspect that needs to be considered when studying JA signaling is that in addition to plant defense JA also regulates plant growth and development. In rice, root growth and elongation are reduced by exogenous application of MeJA (Staswick *et al.*, 1992; Moons *et al.*, 1997; Lu *et al.*, 2015). In our study, we observed an apparent synergistic positive effect of RWW adults and larvae on induced JA in roots which was associated with a significant additive negative effect on total root length accompanied by similar negative effects on root biomass, shoot biomass and number of tillers. Negative effects of combined above- and belowground herbivory on plant growth are often observed in nature (Zvereva & Kozlov, 2012). In our study, the root colonization by *P. indica* suppressed the herbivore-induced JA in roots and enhanced plant tolerance to RWW attack. Furthermore, we detected only a local negative effect of RWW larvae on WT roots independent of *P. indica* colonization, which tended to be worsened by leaf herbivory and was not detected in *coil-18* roots. Therefore, our results suggest that the negative effects of RWW herbivory on plant growth were mediated by induced JA signaling in roots. Intriguingly, the unaffected expression of *OsJAR1* in herbivore-attacked roots suggests that *de novo* biosynthesis of JA pathway was inactive, while the reduced levels of JA in leaves following

root herbivory suggests that herbivore-induced JA in roots may be transported from the leaves. Zhang & Baldwin (1997) used [2-¹⁴C]JA to demonstrate that direct transport of wound-induced JA from leaves to roots accounts for the systemic increase of JA in roots of *N. sylvestris*. Therefore, a putative transport of JA from leaves to roots in our study could explain why prior herbivore-induced JA in leaves contributed to greater JA accumulation in roots and therefore to stronger reduction of root growth in response to root herbivory.

Mechanisms of JA-mediated growth inhibition in aboveground plant organs have been demonstrated for Arabidopsis, N. attenuata and rice (Yang et al., 2012; Heinrich et al., 2013; Matschi et al., 2015). The current conception is that modulation of GA biosynthesis and JAZ interference with the interaction between DELLAs and growth-promoting PIF transcription factors are two key mechanisms leading to JA-mediated growth inhibition. In rice, overexpression of EUII reduces drastically the levels of bioactive GAs (Zhu et al., 2006) and enhances the accumulation of DELLA (Luo et al., 2006), while the crossing of Euil-OX with coil-18 plants showed that growth enhancement in coil-18 plants depends on GA signaling (Yang et al., 2012). In our study, the stronger plant growth inhibition of Euil-OX plants due to root herbivory suggests that negative effects of RWW larvae on plant growth are counteracted by GA signaling in WT and *coil-18* plants. Consistent with the current literature (Schäfer *et al.*, 2009; Jacobs et al., 2011), our study shows that P. indica requires GA signaling to establish a mutualistic association with rice, as evidenced by the up-regulation of OsKS1 expression, stronger growth promotion of *coil-18* plants and failure to promote growth of *Euil-OX* plants. Although not as well characterized, GA signaling can also attenuate JA signaling as reported for Arabidopsis (Hou *et al.*, 2010). It is therefore plausible that *P. indica*-elicited GA signaling also mediates the suppression of herbivore-induced JA in rice roots. To explore alternative explanations for the endophyte-induced tolerance, we evaluated possible resource limitations by measuring chlorophyll and mineral nutrients in rice plants. The endophyte did not outweigh the nutritional deficits caused by root herbivory, and while promoting plant growth, it did not affect chlorophyll concentrations in WT plants and even reduced it in coil-18 plants, which suggests that *P. indica* was unable to alter the resource paucity following root herbivory. Taken together, our results suggest that enhanced GA signaling and consequent suppression of JA signaling belowground is one mechanism by which *P. indica* induces plant tolerance to RWW (Fig. III.5).

The present tripartite interaction has larger implications. First, while the ecological function of fungal leaf endophytes in improving plant defense against aboveground herbivory is well documented (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2009; Estrada *et al.*, 2013), our study appears to be the first reporting the impact of a root endophyte on plant defense to belowground herbivory. Second, we show that endophyte-enhanced plant defense to root herbivory results from induced plant tolerance, which adds to the growing evidence that induced compensatory regrowth is an important defense strategy for roots to cope with the attack by herbivores (Poveda *et al.*, 2010; Erb *et al.*, 2012a; Robert *et al.*, 2014). Finally, we demonstrate that GA signaling is one mechanism by which an endophyte induces plant tolerance to root herbivory. This implies that GA is a putative signaling component of inducible compensatory regrowth against biotic stress. By showing how a fungal endophyte induces plant tolerance to root herbivory, our study illustrates a novel molecular mechanism underlying the integration of a beneficial microbe in the defense system of a higher plant.



Figure III.5 *Schematic representation of endophyte-induced plant tolerance to root herbivory.* Rice plants were first inoculated with the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* (1), then infested aboveground with rice water weevil (RWW) adults (2), and finally infested belowground with RWW larvae (3). The larvae induced jasmonic acid (JA) in roots, which was apparently enhanced by prior adult leaf herbivory, possibly through JA transport from leaves to roots. This contributes to both the suppression of gibberellic acid (GA) biosynthesis and the accumulation of DELLA and leads to plant growth inhibition. However, the prior endophyte colonization activates the GA biosynthetic pathway in roots to degrade DELLA and possibly to suppress JA accumulation. By disabling the JA mechanism for herbivore-mediated plant growth inhibition, the endophyte induces plant tolerance to root herbivory. Arrows and blunt-ended bars illustrate well established positive and negative effects, respectively, and dashed lines indicate putative effects.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a doctoral grant (MC) from Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (Portugal) and was partially funded by the Dahlem Center of Plant Sciences of Freie Universität Berlin (Germany). We are thankful to Dr Kirsten Weiß for the ICP-OES analyses (Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany) and to Lisa Hoffmann for technical help.

Supplementary information to Chapter III

Gene	RGAP LOCUS	Description	F-Primers (5'3')	R-Primers (5'3')
JAR1	LOC_Os05g50890	JA synthesis	AAGGTTTGTGAACCCATCAAACAGC	AATAATACTTTGCAGCACTTGTTACG
OsKS1	LOC_Os04g52230	GA synthesis	GACAAGGGACCAGCTCCAGACATTGGAG	CAGGAGCAGCAATCTGCTCATCCATGGC
OsACT	LOC_Os03g50885	Housekeeping	TGGACAGGTTATCACCATTGGT	CCGCAGCTTCCATTCCTATG

Table III.S1 Primers used for Quantitative real-time PCR analyses.

Table III.S2 Results of three-way ANOVA on the effects of the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica*, rice water weevil (RWW) adults, RWW larvae and their interactions on shoot biomass fresh weight (FW), tiller number, root biomass FW, total root length and average root diameter of 58 d-old rice plants of experiment I.

Factors	Shoo	ot FW	Tille	r No	Roo	t FW	Root	length	Root di	ameter
	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р
Endophyte (E)	2,984	0,090	5,906	0,018	5,177	0,027	9,056	0,004	0,005	0,947
Adult (A)	0,970	0,329	0,024	0,877	0,238	0,628	1,555	0,218	0,046	0,831
Larva (L)	9,954	0,003	0,287	0,594	1,966	0,167	16,060	<0,001	12,295	<0,001
ЕхА	0,845	0,362	0,179	0,674	2,330	0,133	7,882	0,007	0,774	0,383
ExL	5,371	0,024	9,534	0,003	7,001	0,011	21,696	<0,001	0,194	0,661
AxL	0,097	0,756	0,389	0,535	0,126	0,724	1,128	0,293	0,389	0,535
ExAxL	0,017	0,897	0,055	0,816	0,621	0,434	6,176	0,016	1,315	0,256

Table III.S3 Mean values of macronutrients (mg g⁻¹ DW) and of micronutrients (μ g g⁻¹ DW) in shoot of 58-d-old rice plants as affected by the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica*, rice water weevil (RWW) adults, RWW larvae and their fully crossed combinations in comparison to the untreated control as well as the respective results of the three-way factorial ANOVA or GLM.

Macronutrients	Nitro	gen (N))	Phos	ohorus	s (P)	Pota	ssium	n (K)	Cal	cium ((Ca)	Magn	esium	n (Mg)	Su	ılfur (S)
mg g ^{_1} DW	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE
Control	29,05	±	1,75	5,447	±	0,082	51,22	±	0,80	4,863	±	0,141	2,543	±	0,082	2,775	±	0,079
Adult (A)	28,92	±	1,88	5,529	±	0,119	52,56	±	0,93	4,897	±	0,193	2,591	±	0,063	2,899	±	0,097
Larva (L)	28,67	±	3,00	4,459	±	0,281	46,08	±	3,36	6,078	±	0,552	2,394	±	0,085	2,980	±	0,198
AL	31,08	±	1,82	4,510	±	0,212	50,76	±	1,57	6,231	±	0,193	2,492	±	0,104	3,272	±	0,162
Endophyte (E)	29,89	±	1,73	5,514	±	0,098	52,79	±	1,53	4,786	±	0,094	2,439	±	0,072	2,781	±	0,115
EA	26,69	±	1,24	5,773	±	0,079	53,12	±	1,20	4,689	±	0,122	2,552	±	0,071	2,953	±	0,129
EL	27,90	±	1,29	4,856	±	0,066	50,54	±	0,77	5,641	±	0,208	2,545	±	0,056	2,966	±	0,066
EAL	28,51	±	1,45	4,827	±	0,058	49,28	±	1,15	5,297	±	0,109	2,396	±	0,066	2,863	±	0,127
Factors	(GLM			GLM			GLM			GLM		A	NOV	Ą	A	NOV	A
	F		Ρ	F		Р	F		Р	F		Р	F		Р	F		Р
Endophyte	0,752	C	0,390	5,205		0,026	1,128		0,293	6,743		0,012	0,169		0,682	1,006		0,320
Adult	0,010	C	0,919	0,651		0,423	1,116		0,295	0,159		0,692	0,254		0,616	1,795		0,186
Larva	0,074	C	0,787	64,938		<0,001	7,353		0,009	39,657		<0,001	1,928		0,171	3,452		0,068
ЕхА	0,834	C	0,365	0,031		0,862	2,175		0,146	1,023		0,316	0,720		0,400	0,915		0,343
ExL	0,121	C	0,730	1,730		0,194	0,060		0,807	1,527		0,222	0,850		0,360	1,769		0,189
AxL	1,461	C	0,232	0,337		0,564	0,195		0,661	0,029		0,866	0,975		0,328	0,087		0,769
ExAxL	0,092	C	0,763	0,280		0,599	1,301		0,259	0,182		0,672	2,094		0,153	1,490		0,227

(Continue next page)

Continuation	of	Table	III.S3
--------------	----	-------	--------

Micronutrients	Zir	nc (Z	n)	Manga	anese	e (Mn)	Ir	on (F	e)	Сор	oper ((Cu)	Bo	oron (B)	Molybo	denui	m (Mo)
µg g⁻¹ DW	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE	Mean		SE
Control	117,2	±	4,45	382,1	±	10,47	286,9	±	38,26	13,78	±	0,670	9,626	±	0,287	1,953	±	0,082
Adult (A)	120,7	±	6,19	403,7	±	14,50	257,1	±	48,01	13,51	±	0,559	9,306	±	0,213	2,040	±	0,112
Larva (L)	130,5	±	12,04	316,8	±	40,49	261,3	±	20,36	17,96	±	4,871	11,633	±	0,876	2,249	±	0,080
AL	116,0	±	7,67	345,6	±	27,26	316,1	±	60,82	11,75	±	0,676	12,262	±	0,835	2,370	±	0,126
Endophyte (E)	118,6	±	3,91	401,7	±	6,75	243,2	±	18,89	13,14	±	0,800	9,678	±	0,272	2,072	±	0,097
EA	120,1	±	4,15	396,2	±	6,11	242,3	±	28,76	13,74	±	0,817	9,625	±	0,195	2,115	±	0,105
EL	118,7	±	4,38	365,5	±	10,12	264,0	±	28,18	13,57	±	0,257	11,306	±	0,576	2,154	±	0,057
EAL	111,5	±	4,96	360,8	±	10,68	317,7	±	41,16	12,98	±	0,567	11,055	±	0,853	2,105	±	0,077
Factors	A	VOV	A	(GLM		Α	NOV	A		GLM			GLM		Α	NOV	A
	F		Р	F		Р	F		Р	F		Р	F		Р	F		Р
Endophyte	0,399		0,530	1,927		0,171	0,036		0,850	0,467		0,497	0,489		0,487	0,383		0,538
Adult	0,872		0,354	0,537		0,467	0,055		0,815	1,577		0,215	0,000		0,999	0,564		0,456
Larva	0,058		0,811	12,659		<0,001	1,889		0,175	0,156		0,695	23,289		<0.001	6,829		0,012
ExA	0,044		0,835	1,227		0,273	0,273		0,604	1,583		0,214	0,137		0,713	0,644		0,426
ExL	0,669		0,417	0,892		0,349	0,216		0,644	0,273		0,603	1,313		0,257	4,313		0,042
AxL	2,041		0,159	0,021		0,884	1,731		0,194	1,928		0,170	0,204		0,654	0,047		0,829
ExAxL	0,149		0,701	0,014		0,907	0,045		0,832	0,841		0,363	0,478		0,492	0,229		0,635

			Leav	/es					R	loots		
Factors	OF	PDA	JA		JA	-lle	OPDA		J	A	JA-Ile	
	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р
Endophyte (E)	0,000	0,995	0,441	0,509	0,888	0,350	1,040	0,312	6,048	0,017	3,155	0,081
Adult (A)	4,732	0,034	6,420	0,014	5,340	0,025	0,336	0,565	1,524	0,222	1,513	0,224
Larva (L)	3,483	0,067	4,554	0,037	3,274	0,076	0,032	0,858	7,385	0,009	14,864	<0,001
ЕхА	0,237	0,628	1,662	0,203	1,424	0,238	0,069	0,794	0,829	0,367	0,984	0,326
ExL	0,594	0,444	0,047	0,829	0,609	0,438	2,079	0,155	4,133	0,047	1,657	0,204
AxL	0,047	0,830	2,015	0,161	1,368	0,247	0,196	0,660	0,588	0,447	0,024	0,877
ExAxL	0,608	0,439	0,533	0,469	0,348	0,558	0,291	0,592	0,674	0,415	0,909	0,345

Table III.S4 Results of three-way GLM on the effects of the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica*, rice water weevil (RWW) adults, RWW larvae and their interactions on 12-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), jasmonic acid (JA) and jasmonoyl-isoleucine (JA-Ile) in leaves and in roots of 58-d-old rice plants.

Table III.S5 Results of three-way GLM on the effects of the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica*, rice water weevil (RWW) adults, RWW larvae and their interactions on the relative transcription level of *OsJAR1* and *OsKS1* in roots of 58 d-old rice plants.

Factors	OsJ	AR1	Osl	KS1
	F	Р	F	Р
Endophyte (E)	0,574	0,452	6,037	0,017
Adult (A)	0,166	0,685	0,000	0,993
Larva (L)	0,138	0,711	48,198	<0,001
ЕхА	0,013	0,910	1,723	0,195
ExL	3,475	0,068	0,768	0,385
AxL	2,436	0,125	0,109	0,743
ExAxL	0,678	0,414	3,420	0,070

Table III.S6 Results of three-way ANOVA or GLM on the effects of the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica*, rice water weevil (RWW) adults, RWW larvae and their interactions on the biomass of shoots, untreated root-half, and treated root-half and on Chlorophyll in shoots of 58-d-old WT, *coi1-18*, and *Eui1-OX* plants.

WT	Sh	oot	Untreated	l root-half	Treated	root-half	Chlor	ophyll
	ANG	AVC	Gl	M	GI	_M	GI	_M
Factors	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р
Endophyte (E)	4,738	0,034	3,290	0,075	5,223	0,026	1,496	0,226
Adult (A)	0,197	0,659	0,486	0,488	0,354	0,554	0,050	0,824
Larva (L)	0,620	0,434	0,217	0,643	4,030	0,049	0,891	0,349
ЕхА	0,014	0,906	0,003	0,959	0,020	0,887	1,379	0,245
ExL	0,219	0,642	1,178	0,282	0,720	0,400	0,357	0,553
AxL	1,842	0,180	0,810	0,372	3,234	0,078	1,016	0,318
ExAxL	0,179	0,674	0,220	0,641	0,950	0,334	0,185	0,669
COI1-18	Sh	oot	Untreated	l root-half	Treated	root-half	Chlor	ophyll
	GI	M	Gl	M	GI	_M	ANG	AVC
Factors	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р
Endophyte (E)	16,305	<0,001	19,430	<0,001	17,243	<0,001	5,386	0,024
Adult (A)	2,295	0,136	1,870	0,177	1,609	0,210	2,739	0,104
Larva (L)	0,140	0,710	0,028	0,869	0,666	0,418	0,939	0,337
ЕхА	0,263	0,610	0,352	0,556	0,791	0,378	0,062	0,805
ExL	0,558	0,458	1,121	0,294	0,019	0,892	2,064	0,156
AxL	0,242	0,625	0,524	0,472	0,720	0,400	1,224	0,273
ExAxL	0,000	0,997	0,979	0,327	0,323	0,572	0,003	0,959
EUI1-OX	Sh	oot	Untreated	l root-half	Treated	root-half	Chlor	ophyll
	GI	M	Gl	M	GI	_M	GI	_M
Factors	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р
Endophyte (E)	2,155	0,148	2,599	0,113	0,581	0,449	0,015	0,903
Adult (A)	0,975	0,328	0,861	0,358	0,578	0,451	1,005	0,321
Larva (L)	5,612	0,022	2,505	0,120	5,789	0,020	7,281	0,009
ЕхА	0,703	0,406	1,018	0,318	0,480	0,492	2,555	0,116
ExL	0,212	0,647	0,000	0,999	0,002	0,963	0,169	0,683
AxL	0,279	0,600	1,267	0,266	0,567	0,455	0,712	0,403
ExAxL	1,203	0,278	0,226	0,637	0,252	0,618	1,050	0,310

		W	/T			coi	1-18		Eui1-OX					
	Survival Growth				Surv	/ival	Gro	wth	Surv	/ival	Growth			
	GLM GLM		ANOVA		GLM		ANC	AVC	GL	M				
Factors	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р		
Endophyte														
(E)	0,131	0,721	1,085	0,308	9,048	0,006	0,083	0,775	0,688	0,414	0,161	0,693		
Adults (A)	0,066	0,799	0,071	0,792	0,692	0,412	0,072	0,791	0,199	0,659	4,122	0,056		
ЕхА	0,237	0,630	0,035	0,854	1,479	0,234	0,005	0,944	0,066	0,799	0,016	0,900		

Table III.S7 Results of two-way ANOVA or GLM on the effects of the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* and rice water weevil (RWW) adults and their interaction on survival and growth of RWW larvae 28 d after neonate infestation in roots of 58-d-old WT, *coi1-18* or *Eui1-OX* plants.

Chapter IV: Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi affect glucosinolate and mineral element composition in leaves of *Moringa oleifera*

Cosme M, Franken P, Mewis I, Baldermann S, Wurst S (2014) Mycorrhiza 24: 565-570.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00572-014-0574-7

Abstract

Moringa is a mycorrhizal crop cultivated in the tropics and subtropics and appreciated for its nutritive and health-promoting value. As well as improving plant mineral nutrition, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) can affect plant synthesis of compounds bioactive against chronic diseases in humans. *Rhizophagus intraradices* and *Funneliformis mosseae* were used in a full factorial experiment to investigate the impact of AMF on the accumulation of glucosinolates, flavonoids, phenolic acids, carotenoids, and mineral elements in moringa leaves. Levels of glucosinolates were enhanced, flavonoids and phenolic acids were not affected, levels of carotenoids (including provitamin A) were species specifically reduced, and mineral elements were affected differently, with only Cu and Zn being increased by the AMF. This study presents novel results on AMF effects on glucosinolates in leaves and supports conclusions that the impacts of these fungi on microelement concentrations in edible plants are species dependent. The nonspecific positive effects on glucosinolates and the species-specific negative effects on carotenoids encourage research on other AMF species to achieve general benefits on bioactive compounds in moringa.

Supplementary information to Chapter IV



Fig. IV.S1 Effects of *Rhizophagus intraradices* (*R. int*), *Funneliformis mosseae* (*F. mos*) or both fungi combined in comparison to the non-AMF control on total plant, root, stem, and leaves fresh biomass of moringa, with the respective results of the two-way factorial ANOVA. Significance levels of *F* statistics are *, ** and *** corresponding to P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, respectively, and are in bold. Marginally significant effects are ⁺ corresponding to P < 0.1. Mean \pm SE, N = 10. For detailed ANOVA summary see Table IV.S2.

	Con	trol	<i>R</i> .	int	<i>F. n</i>	nos	Both	fungi		Two-wa	ay ANOVA
	Mean	SE	Mean	SE	Mean	SE	Mean	SE	R. i	nt F. mos	R. int x F. mos
Macro									F	F	F
Ν	40.06	± 1.88	40.75	± 0.88	39.11	±1.31	39.26	± 1.05	0.5	0 0.36	0.31
Р	4.95	± 0.47	4.63	± 0.18	4.33	±0.15	4.69	±0.19	0.0	7 0.90	1.44
Κ	20.92	±1.25	20.41	± 1.04	20.02	± 0.48	20.90	±0.96	0.0	5 0.04	0.51
Ca	30.58	± 1.78	28.43	± 1.50	30.56	± 1.40	31.10	±1.13	0.3	1 0.87	0.86
Mg	3.56	±0.23	3.25	±0.21	2.82	±0.22	3.14	±0.16	0.02	2 4.07^+	2.36

Table IV.S1 Mean values of macroelements (mg g^{-1} DW) in leaves of moringa as affected by *Rhizophagus intraradices (R. int)*, *Funneliformis mosseae (F. mos)* or both fungi combined in comparison to the non-AMF control, and the respective results of the two-way factorial ANOVA

Significance levels of F statistics are *, ** and *** corresponding to P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, respectively

Values in italics are marginally significant effects ($^+$, P < 0.1). N = 10

Table IV.S2 ANOVA summary on the effects of *Rhizophagus intraradices* (*R. int*) and *Funneliformis mosseae* (*F. mos*) on plant biomass and on concentration of carotenoids, glucosinolates, flavonoids and phenolic acids in moringa leaves. Significance levels of *F* statistics are *, ** and *** corresponding to P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, respectively, and are in bold. Values in italics are marginally significant effects (⁺, P < 0.1).

Biomass		Leaves	Stem	Roots	Total plant
	df	F	F	F	F
R. int	1	6.32*	1.30	1.35	2,32
F. mos	1	2.00	3.35^{+}	2.83	$3,41^{+}$
R. int x F. mos	1	0.00	2.24	0.08	0,01
Error	36				
Glucosinolates ¹		GS	GS I	GS II	GS III
	df	F	F	F	F
R. int	1	0,59	4,66*	12,18**	0,13
F. mos	1	0,63	6,10*	12,29**	2,44
R. int x F. mos	1	1,14	0,60	0,99	0,56
Error	36				
Flavonoids ²		KMG	KG	QMG	QG
	df	F	\overline{F}	F	F
R. int	1	0.10	0.06	1.33	1.69
F. mos	1	0.47	2.89+	4.02+	0.19
R. int x F. mos	1	0.42	1.21	0.27	1.04
Error	36				
Phenolic acids ³		CGA	NCGA		
	df	F	F		
R. int	1	0.01	0.98		
F. mos	1	0.28	0.12		
R. int x F. mos	1	0.05	0.00		
Error	36				
Carotenoids		β-Carotin	Zeaxanthin	Lutein	Neoxanthin
	df	F	\overline{F}	F	F
R. int	1	5,43*	4,73*	3,82+	6,32**
F. mos	1	26,83***	48,16***	81,11***	27,73***
R. int x F. mos	1	3,07	0,10	2,49	0,22
Error	36				

 1 GS, GS I, GS II and GS III correspond to 4-(α -L-rhamnopyranosyloxy)-benzylglucosinolate, and its monoacetyl-Isomer I, II and III, respectively.

² KMG, KG, QMG and QG correspond to kaempferol 3-*O*-(6"-malonylglucoside), kaempferol 3-*O*-glucoside, quercetin 3-*O*-(6"-malonylglucoside), and quercetin 3-*O*-glucoside, respectively.

³ CGA and NCGA correspond to chlorogenic acid and neochlorogenic acid, respectively.



Fig. IV.S2 Effects of *Rhizophagus intraradices* (*R. int*), *Funneliformis mosseae* (*F. mos*) or both fungi combined in comparison to the non-AMF control on levels of flavonoids (a), and phenolic acids (b) in moringa leaves, with the respective results of the two-way factorial ANOVA. Significance levels of *F* statistics are *, ** and *** corresponding to P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, respectively, and are in bold. Mean ± SE, N = 10. For detailed ANOVA summary see Table IV.S2.

Chapter V: Plant cytokinin status regulates the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis between *Nicotiana tabacum* and *Rhizophagus irregularis*

Cosme M, Ramireddy E, Franken P, Schmülling T, Wurst S (201X) Submitted to <u>Mycorrhiza</u> MCOR-S-15-00129 (<u>http://link.springer.com/journal/572</u>)

Abstract

The ubiquitous symbiosis between arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi and the roots of most terrestrial plants plays a key role in nutrient uptake by the plant. In exchange, the plant supplies photosynthetically fixed carbon (C) to the obligate AM fungi. Even though the fungi generally improve plant performance, fungal parasitism may occur. Nearly all phytohormones are involved in the plant regulation of the AM symbiosis. However, only little is known about the role of the phytohormone cytokinin (CK) in this plant-fungus interaction, although CK was shown to accumulate in shoots and roots of AM plants. Here, we used different transgenic lines of tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum) and the corresponding wild type to investigate whether a lowered content of endogenous CK in roots or shoots influences the interaction with the AM fungus Rhizophagus *irregularis.* Our data indicates that the shoot CK has a positive impact on the AM symbiotic functioning in roots. A lowered content of CK in roots caused shoot and root growth depression following AM colonization, which was associated with reduced C concentration in shoots, while neither the uptake of phosphorus or nitrogen nor the root transcript levels of an AM-specific phosphate transporter gene were significantly affected. This suggests that the root CK may restrict fungal C sink thus averting parasitism by AM fungi. Taken together, our results clearly demonstrate that organ-specific CK status can affect profoundly the plant performance in response to AM symbiosis.

Introduction

The ubiquitous symbiosis between higher plants and the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi is regulated by several phytohormones through yet poorly understood mechanisms (Pozo *et al.*, 2015). Phytohormones are small metabolites that regulate intrinsic developmental and physiological pathways, but also mediate the response of these pathways to environmental cues. For instance, they modify root architecture and the expression of phosphate transporter genes during phosphorous (P) starvation and balance shoot growth according to light intensity (Werner & Schmülling, 2009; Sparks *et al.*, 2013). The AM fungi comprise the fungal phylum Glomeromycota that associates with the roots of 80 % of terrestrial plants in a wide range of environmental settings, including agricultural environments (Smith & Read, 2008). These fungi can confer a variety of benefits to their host plants, such as enhanced mineral nutrition, photosynthesis, growth and seed production. As these benefits are context-dependent, deciphering the role of phytohormones in regulating the plants response to AM symbiosis is crucial to understand how plants can optimize their symbiotic strategies to improve growth and fitness.

AM fungi are obligate symbionts. They obtain photosynthetically fixed carbon (C) from plants, through transport of sugars from root cortex cells to inter- and intracellular hyphae as well as to arbuscules (Smith & Read, 2008; Helber *et al.*, 2011). In exchange, the AM mycelium takes up mineral nutrients from the soil, particularly P, but also nitrogen (N) and others, and delivers them to the plant via the arbuscules in the apoplast of root cortex cells (Marschner & Dell, 1994; Nouri *et al.*, 2014). Despite this reciprocal nutritional benefit, the plant growth response to AM colonization varies markedly along a mutualism-parasitism continuum (Johnson, 2010). Mutualistic benefits of delivered P are predicted to be the greatest in soils that are characterized by high N and low P availability (Johnson, 2010). By contrast, when neither N nor P is limited, fungal growth is primarily limited by C, so the fungal C demand can increase to the point where it may depress plant growth and generate fungal parasitism (Johnson, 2010). Furthermore, other factors such as fungal genotype, competition or complementarity may also influence the AM symbiotic outcome (Maherali & Klironomos, 2007; Jansa *et al.*, 2008; Angelard *et al.*, 2010).

AM symbiosis is regulated by nearly all phytohormones (Gutjahr, 2014; Pozo *et al.*, 2015). The study of mutants and transgenic plants altered in phytohormone metabolism or perception has provided major insights into their role in regulating AM symbiosis. The arbuscule formation vital to the net benefits of AM symbiosis is regulated positively by abscisic acid, via a dual ethylene-dependent/ethylene-independent mechanism (Martín-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2011). In contrast to ABA, gibberellins (GA) negatively regulate arbuscule formation via degradation of DELLA proteins, which are required for arbuscule formation (Floss *et al.*, 2013; Foo *et al.*, 2013; Yu *et al.*, 2014). Jasmonic acid positively regulates arbuscule formation but negatively regulates fungal spread inside the roots via systemic signaling to and from shoots, possibly by controlling the C allocated to colonized roots (Wasternack & Hause, 2014). Salicylic acid slows down fungal growth without changing final colonization (Herrera-Medina *et al.*, 2003). Auxin and brassinosteroids do not appear to affect directly arbuscule formation but increase AM hyphal colonization (Hanlon & Coenen, 2011; Foo, 2013; Bitterlich *et al.*, 2014). In *Pisum sativum* this auxin effect was partially mediated by strigolactones which stimulate the presymbiotic hyphal branching (Foo, 2013).

Much less is known about the role of another class of phytohormones, cytokinin (CK), in the AM plant-fungus interaction. CK are N^6 -substituted purine derivatives that regulate many fundamental aspects of plant development, including responses to nutrient starvation (Werner & Schmülling, 2009; Kieber & Schaller, 2014). Generally, AM fungi increase the CK levels in roots and shoots (Allen *et al.*, 1980; Baas & Kuiper, 1989; Barker & Tagu, 2000), which apparently is uncharacteristic to pathogenic fungi (van Rhijn *et al.*, 1997) and seems to be independent from increased P supply in roots (Torelli *et al.*, 2000; Shaul-Keinan *et al.*, 2002). Drüge & Schonbeck (1992) observed a strong correlation between increased CK levels, improved photosynthesis and enhanced growth of AM plants and hypothesized that CK is part of the positive AM effect on plant performance. However, this hypothesis has been contested as the correlation was not always observed (Baas & Kuiper, 1989; Danneberg *et al.*, 1993). Thus, it is as yet unclear why AM plants have generally increased CK levels. Moreover, the scarce knowledge about the role of CK due to a lack of direct evidence elucidating the effects of CK on AM symbiosis may cause an underestimation of its potential importance (Foo *et al.*, 2013; Bucher *et al.*, 2014).

One approach to study the role of CK in AM symbiosis is to use plants with an altered CK content. A useful tool to generate plants with a lower CK content has been the ectopic expression of CYTOKININ OXIDASE/DEHYDROGENASE (CKX) genes (Werner et al., 2001; Werner et al., 2003). CKX genes code for enzymes that irreversible degrade CK in a single enzymatic step to biologically inactive molecules (Schmülling et al., 2003; Werner et al., 2003). Systemic expression of CKX genes under the control of the 35S promoter reduces shoot growth (Werner et al., 2001; Werner et al., 2003) as well as leaf chlorophyll and sugar contents (Werner et al., 2008), but increases root growth. Together this leads to an enhanced root-to-shoot ratio and revealed an opposite regulatory function of CK on shoot and root development (Werner et al., 2003). Plants with root-specific CK deficiency have an increased root growth but a normal shoot growth (Werner et al., 2010). The lower CK content in roots altered the expression of nutrient transporter genes and caused the accumulation of more mineral nutrients in shoots (Werner et al., 2010), which indicates that CK negatively regulates typical root responses to nutrient starvation. 35S:CKX2 transgenic tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) plants have been used previously to analyze interactions between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, rhizobacteria and soil P (Cosme & Wurst, 2013). It has been found that systemically CK-deficient plants increase AM hyphal colonization without affecting arbuscule formation (Cosme & Wurst, 2013). However, the mechanism for this CK effect remains unknown.

Here, we tested whether a lowered CK content only in the roots has an influence on the interaction with AM fungi and whether the shoot CK status affects AM symbiosis as well. To this end, we compared the plant performance and AM colonization of transgenic tobacco plants with root-specific CK deficiency (*W6:CKX1*) with that of untransformed wild type (WT) and two systemically CK-deficient transgenic plants (*35S:CKX1, 35S:CKX2*). Furthermore, we tested whether AM fungal strains or their interaction influence the symbiotic outcome by using single and simultaneous inoculation with two different strains of *Rhizophagus irregularis* (formerly *Glomus intraradices*) as symbiotic function may vary with strain genotype (Angelard *et al.*, 2010). Potential functional mechanisms underlying plant and fungal responses were explored by determining the P, N and C content in shoots and the transcript levels of phosphate transporter genes in roots. Our study revealed organ-specific effects of CK on AM symbiosis and suggests that these effects are mediated through the modulation of C availability to the fungus independently in part of P and N supply.

Materials and methods

Plant and fungi

Rhizophagus irregularis (former *Glomus intraradices*) is a widespread AM fungus and the first one that has been used for large-scale transcriptome sequencing (Tisserant *et al.*, 2011). Although it is generally effective in colonizing roots and transferring mineral nutrients to the host plant, *R. irregularis* symbiotic function may vary with strain genotype (Angelard *et al.*, 2010). To unveil eventual strain effects, we used two different *R. irregularis* strains (RI and FM) obtained from INOQ GmbH (Soltau, Germany). Inocula of *R. irregularis* were produced in sand using mixed plant cultures of *Plantago lanceolata*, *Tagetes erecta*, and *Zea mays*, and contained 200 propagules ml⁻¹, consisting of spores, hyphae, and colonized root pieces.

As a host plant we used tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum* L. cv. Samsun NN). The untransformed control is referred to as wild type (WT). The transgenic lines expressing *W6:CKX1* (line W6-CKX1-24), *35S:CKX1* (line 35S:CKX1-50) and *35S:CKX2* (line 35S:CKX2-38) were described previously (Werner *et al.*, 2001; Werner *et al.*, 2008; Werner *et al.*, 2010). Shortly, the *W6:CKX1* line harbors the *CKX1* genes of *Arabidopsis* under the transcriptional control of the predominantly root-expressed *WRKY6* promoter (Werner *et al.*, 2010). The *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* plant lines harbor two different *CKX* genes (*CKX1* and *CKX2*, respectively) of *Arabidopsis* under the transcriptional control of the systemically expressed 35S promoter (Werner *et al.*, 2001). Systemic reduction of the CK content in *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* transgenic tobacco lines causes in addition to root enhancement a reduced shoot growth because CK is a positive regulator of shoot growth. Both lines differ in the expressivity of the phenotypic traits, with *35S:CKX1* expression causing stronger negative effects on shoot growth than *35S:CKX2*, which is reflected by reduced photosynthesis and a lower content of soluble sugar (Werner *et al.*, 2008).

Experimental set up

To test whether the root CK status influences the AM symbiosis, and eventually the CK status of the shoot has a role as well, and whether AM fungal strains and/or their interaction influence the symbiotic outcome, we conducted a factorial experiment in a glasshouse (16 h light and

 $20^{\circ}/24^{\circ}$ C night/day temperatures) with the factors tobacco line (four levels: WT, W6:CKX1, 35S:CKX1, 35S:CKX2), R. irregularis RI (two levels: -, +), and R. irregularis FM (two levels: -, +), distributed over a total of 16 treatments, each treatment with 10 independent replicates. The experimental replicate consisted of a plastic pot (2 L) filled with an autoclaved (121 °C, 20 min) soil:sand mixture (1:1 v:v) described previously (Cosme et al., 2014). We inoculated the pots according to AM treatment by mixing thoroughly 100 ml of inocula on the top layer of the soil:sand mixture. Non-AM (NAM) control pots received sterilized inoculum (autoclaved at 121 °C for 20 min), the R. irregularis RI and FM pots received their respective strain inoculum, and the co-inoculated pots received a mixture (1:1 v:v) of both strain inocula. Additionally, the pots received a microbial wash (20 µm sieve) produced from fungal inocula to correct for the potential presence of NAM microbial backgrounds. All tobacco seeds were surface-sterilized in 1.2 % NaClO for 5 min and rinsed with H₂O prior use. Each pot was sown with several seeds of the respective tobacco line and immediately after germination the seedlings were thinned, allowing only one single plant to grow in each pot. Plants were watered regularly and fertilized every week with double strength of a modified Hoagland's solution without P (No. 3 as described by Douds & Schenck, 1990) to facilitate AM colonization. After eight weeks of growth, the number of flowers per plant was counted and all plants were harvested by cutting the shoot at the ground level. The soil was carefully washed away from roots and root sub-samples (0.3 g) were instantly frozen in liquid N₂ and stored in -80 °C for further analyses. The shoots and roots were dried in an oven during one week at 60 °C and subsequently their biomasses were recorded.

AM fungal colonization

To evaluate whether an altered CK content affects AM fungal development we assessed the percentage of root length colonized by AM hyphae and arbuscules in all experimental plants. To this end, random samples of 10 2-cm-long root fragments were collected from each root and stained using the ink and vinegar method (Vierheilig *et al.*, 1998). The percent of root length colonization was determined at the microscope (×200 magnification) using the gridline intersection method with 100 intersects per sample (McGonigle *et al.*, 1990).

Content of phosphorus, nitrogen and carbon in shoots

To determine whether altered plant growth following *R. irregularis* colonization was correlated with an altered nutrient content, we determined the concentration and total content of N and P as well as the concentration of C in shoots. The dried shoots of each plant were homogenized by grounding to fine particles using a ball mill (MM 400, Retsch, Haan, Germany). Sub-samples (ca. 3 mg) of all ground shoots were placed into individual zinc capsules and the percentages of N and C in shoots were determined by standard procedures using a CN Elemental Analyzer (Euro EA, HEKAtech GmbH, Germany), with acetanilide as standard (HEKAtech M.135.17). The concentration of P was determined from ground shoots of five randomly selected plant replicates per treatment, with two technical repetitions (200 mg each) per plant replicate. Technical repetitions were microwave-digested in 5 mL of 65 % HNO₃ and 3 mL of 30 % H₂O₂ using a MARSXpress (CEM GmbH, Kamp-Lintfort, Germany). The digested solution was filtered and diluted with H₂O in 50 mL volumetric flasks, and P was measured photometrically following the DIN EN ISO 15681-1 norm and using a FIA modula (Medizin- und Labortechnik Engineering GmbH, Dresden, Germany).

Root transcript levels of phosphate transporter genes

Total RNA was extracted from roots of eight-week-old tobacco plants with the TRIzol method as described by Brenner *et al.* (2005). RNA was further purified by using RNeasy mini-columns including the on-column DNase digestion as described in the manufacturer's protocol (appendix D of the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Handbook, QIAGEN GmbH, Hilden, Germany). Equal amounts of starting material (1 µg of RNA) were used for complementary DNA synthesis using SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase. Real-time PCR using FAST SYBR Green I technology was performed on an ABI PRISM 7500 sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems Inc., California, USA) and universal "FAST" cycling conditions (10 min at 95 °C, 40 cycles of 15 s at 95 °C and 60 s at 60 °C) followed by the generation of a dissociation curve to check for specificity of the amplification. Gene expression data was normalized against two different reference genes (*Nicotiana tabacum Elongation factor 1a* (*EF-1a*), and *L25 ribosomal protein*) according to Vandesompele *et al.* (2002) and are presented relative to the control treatment. Primers used for reference genes and genes of interest are listed in Supplemental Table S1.

Statistical analyses

We analyzed AM fungal colonization by two-way ANOVA using only inoculated plants with the categorical factors tobacco line (four levels: WT, *W6:CKX1*, *35S:CKX1* or *35S:CKX2*) and AM inoculation (three levels: *R. irregularis* RI, *R. irregularis* FM, or both RI and FM). Plant parameters were analyzed by three-way ANOVA with the categorical factors tobacco line (same levels as above), *R. irregularis* RI (two levels: -, +) and *R. irregularis* FM (two levels: -, +). Data were tested for normality of distribution using Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests and for homogeneity of variances using Levene's tests. In the case of non-normality and/or unequal variances, data were log or arcsine transformed prior to ANOVA. Multiple comparisons were analyzed by Duncan's multiple-range test. All data were analyzed in R Studio 0.97.332 (www.rstudio.com).

Results

AM fungal colonization

To assess AM fungal development, we quantified the internal hyphal and arbuscules colonization in stained roots of eight-week-old tobacco plants (Figs. V.1A and V.1B). No evidence was found for AM fungal colonization in plants treated with sterile inocula (NAM control). The AM hyphal colonization in WT plants was remarkably high (close to 96 %) and did not differ among fungal inoculations (Fig. V.1A; Table V1). Lowering the CK content in roots (W6:CKX1) did not affect the AM hyphal colonization compared with that of WT (Fig. V.1A). In contrast, plant lines with systemic CK deficiency (35S:CKX1 and 35S:CKX2) had reduced AM hyphal colonization compared to the WT. 35S:CKX1 transgenic plants showed a strongly reduced hyphal colonization following all fungal inoculations (from 96 % to 45 %), while 35S:CKX2 plants showed reduced hyphal colonization (64 %) only in the fungal co-inoculation treatment (Fig. V.1A). As both WT and W6:CKX1 plants showed increased AM hyphal colonization compared with that of 35S:CKX1, this indicates that the reduced AM hyphal development might have been at least partly dependent on the shoot CK status. Finally, the arbuscule colonization was relatively low across all plant lines and AM fungal inoculations, but followed a similar pattern as the hyphal colonization (Fig. V.1B; Table V1). Differential quantification of the two R. irregularis strains following co-inoculation was aimed to be carried out by molecular means. For this purpose, different regions of the rRNA gene cluster and fragments of genes encoding the phosphate transporter or the translation elongation factor EF1-alpha were sequenced. Sequence differences between the two strains were, however, too low for experimental differentiation of the two strains (data not shown).



Figure V.1. *Effects of root-specific and systemic cytokinin deficiency on AM colonization*. Tobacco line *W6:CKX1* with root-specific CK-deficiency, the *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* transgenic lines with systemic CK deficiency and the corresponding wild type (WT) where inoculated with the AM fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* strain RI, strain FM or both (RI+FM). Plants were grown in a glasshouse for eight weeks and sampled to determine the percentage of root length colonization (RLC) by AM hyphae and arbuscules. Values are means + SE, n = 10. For ANOVA results see Table 1. For each AM fungal parameter, bars with similar letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to Duncan's multiple range test.

Table V.1. *Arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungal colonization of cytokinin-deficient plants*. Tobacco line *W6:CKX1* with root-specific CK-deficiency, the *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* transgenic lines with systemic CK deficiency and the corresponding wild type where inoculated or not with the AM fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* strain RI or strain FM. Plants were grown in a glasshouse for eight weeks and sampled to determine the percentage of root length colonization (RLC) by AM hyphae and arbuscules. Two-way ANOVAs with the categorical factors tobacco line and AM fungal inoculation were used to determine the significant levels of *F* statistics. For the mean values see Fig. V.1. df, degrees of freedom.

Factors		Hyphal RLC	Arbuscules RLC			
	df	F P	F P			
Tobacco lines (T)	3	32.7 ***	9.2 ***			
AM fungi (AMF)	2	2.6 (*)	0.8			
T x AMF	6	1.1	2.0 (*)			
Residuals	108					

For P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, significance levels of *F* values are presented as *, ** and ***, respectively, and are in bold. *F* values accompanied by (*) are marginally non-significant and are in italic. n = 10.

Plant biomass and fitness

Next we analyzed whether AM fungal inoculation had a specific influence on the biomass formation of roots or shoots. It was found that the different plant genotypes showed distinct responses (Figs. V.2A and V.2B; Table V.2). *R. irregularis* did not affect significantly the root biomass of WT plants when compared with NAM WT plants. However, the combined inoculum of *R. irregularis* strains reduced significantly the root biomass in CK-deficient roots when these were not accompanied by a strong CK-deficient shoot phenotype, i.e. in *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2*. The strain RI alone had also a negative influence on the root biomass of *35S:CKX2* plants compared with NAM *35S:CKX2* plants. The shoot biomass of WT plants was reduced significantly following inoculation by single *R. irregularis* strains but was not affected by their co-inoculation as compared with NAM WT plants. A reduction of the shoot biomass was also noted in transgenic plants without or with only moderate CK deficiency in the shoot, i.e. in *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* (Fig. V.2B and V.2D). In contrast, the low shoot biomass as a

consequence of strong CK deficiency (*35S:CKX1*) was not lowered further following AM inoculation (Fig. V.2B). The co-inoculation with RI and FM neutralized their negative effects on shoot biomass formation of WT. However, it reduced synergistically the shoot biomass of *W6:CKX1*, and maintained the RI negative effects on shoot biomass of *35S:CKX2*. The different growth response to *R. irregularis* in *35S:CKX1* compared to *W6:CKX1* and WT suggests that the effects of the root CK status on AM symbiotic function depends on the shoot CK status. A lowered CK levels in roots appear to increase the plants' susceptibility to growth depression following AM fungal colonization. However, this consequence does not become apparent when the shoot itself is already strongly CK-deficient.

To measure plant fitness we counted the number of flowers in eight-week-old plants as a proxy. To evaluate the data it should be noted that a lowered CK content of the shoots retards the reproductive development of tobacco plants and reduces the overall number of flowers (Werner *et al.*, 2001), which is confirmed by the *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* NAM plants in Fig. V.2C. We observed that the effects of AM fungal inoculations on the number of flowers depended strongly on the combination of *R. irregularis* strain and plant genotype (Fig. V.2C; Table V.2). *R. irregularis* RI reduced the number of flowers of WT by 75 %, while strain FM and co-inoculation with both strains had no significant effects in *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* (Fig. V.2C), while co-inoculation of RI and FM reduced the number of flowers by 87 % and 58 % in *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* compared to their NAM control plants, respectively (Fig. V.2C). In contrast, reproductive development of *35S:CKX1* was not affected by AM fungal colonization (Fig. V.2C).



Figure V.2. Influence of AM inoculation on biomass and reproduction. The effect of Rhizophagus irregularis RI, FM and their co-inoculation (RI+FM) on root (A) and shoot (B) dry weight (DW) and number of flowers (C) of eight-week-old tobacco plants were compared with the respective non-AM (NAM) plants of wild type (WT) and transgenic lines with root-specific (W6:CKX1) or systemic (35S:CKX1 and 35S:CKX2) cytokinin deficiency. Values are means + SE, n = 10. For each plant parameter, bars with similar letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to Duncan's multiple range test. (D) The shoot phenotype of eight-week-old plants (WT, 35S:CKX1, 35S:CKX2) inoculated with RI, FM or RI+FM in comparison to NAM plants is shown.

Table V.2. *Biomass and fitness of AM-inoculated cytokinin-deficient plants.* Tobacco line *W6:CKX1* with rootspecific CK-deficiency, the *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* transgenic lines with systemic CK deficiency and the corresponding wild type where inoculated or not with the AM fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* strain RI or strain FM. Plants were grown in a glasshouse for eight weeks and sampled to determine the root and shoot dry weight (DW) and number of flowers. Three-way ANOVAs with the categorical factors tobacco lines, *R. irregularis* RI, and *R. irregularis* FM were used to determine the significant levels of *F* statistics. For the mean values see Fig. V.2. df, degrees of freedom.

Factors		Root DW (g)		Shoot DV	Shoot DW (g)		Number of flowers	
	df	F	Р	F	Ρ	F	Ρ	
Tobacco line (T)	3	10.8	***	132.2	***	59.8	***	
<i>R. irregularis</i> RI	1	18.1	***	23.0	***	29.2	***	
<i>R. irregulari</i> s FM	1	2.6		8.7	**	1.0		
T x RI	3	3.3	*	2.7	*	3.6	*	
T x FM	3	2.6	(*)	20.3	***	15.7	***	
RI x FM	1	1.7		5.2	*	0.1		
T x RI x FM	3	2.5	(*)	8.6	***	19.4	***	
Residuals	144							

For P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, significance levels of F values are presented as *, ** and ***, respectively, and are in bold. F values accompanied by (*) are marginally non-significant and are in italic. n = 10.

Content of phosphorus, nitrogen and carbon in shoots

The relative availability of P, N and C plays a major influence on plant growth responses to AM fungi (Johnson, 2010). We therefore determined the P, N and C content in shoots of AM plants and compared it with that of the NAM counterparts. *R. irregularis* strain RI increased the concentration of P in WT shoots significantly more than strain FM, but the co-inoculation with RI and FM had no significant effect (Fig. V.3A; Table V.3). Thus, only RI enhanced the total P content in shoots of WT plants (Fig. V.3B; Table V.3). Although the concentration of P in shoots was increased by co-inoculation in both *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* and by RI in *35S:CKX2* (Fig. V.3A), these increases were associated with an unchanged total P content in shoots (Fig. V.3B).

The concentration and total content of P in shoots of *35S:CKX1* remained unaltered across fungal inoculations (Fig. V.3A and V.3B).

The concentration of N in shoots was also altered by AM fungal inoculations depending on the plant genotype (Fig. V.3C; Table V.3). Strain RI increased the concentration of N in shoots of WT and *35S:CKX2*, whereas strain FM increased only the concentration of N in shoots of *W6:CKX1* (Fig. V.3C). Co-inoculation with RI and FM suppressed the positive effect of RI on the concentration of N in shoots of WT, enhanced synergistically the concentration of N in shoots of *35S:CKX2* (Fig. V.3C). These increases, however, were associated with an unchanged total N content in shoots (Fig. V.3D; Table V.3). As for P, the concentration and total content of N in shoots of *35S:CKX1* remained unaltered across fungal inoculations (Fig. V.3C and V.3D). Overall, the AM-mediated enhancement of these two important soil-derived nutrients was generally not associated with increased uptake, except for the P benefit provided by strain RI to WT plants (Fig. V.3A, B, C, D). Moreover, these increases were associated with AM-mediated reduction of plant growth (Fig. V.2A and V.2B; Fig. V.3A and V.3C), which suggests that neither P nor N were limiting growth factors in the present experiment.

According to Johnson (2010), when neither N nor P is limited for growth of AM plant, the fungal C demand can increase to the point where it may depress plant growth. We then questioned whether the depression of plant growth following *R. irregularis* colonization could be caused by a reduced concentration of C in shoots. Although the NAM *W6:CKX1* plants had a concentration of C in shoots comparable to that of WT, the co-inoculated strains reduced synergistically by 8 % the concentration of C in shoots of *W6:CKX1*, when compared with the NAM counterpart (Fig. V.4). The concentration of C in shoots of W7 plants was increased by 17 % as compared to systemic CK-deficient plants (*35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2*) and was not affected by AM fungal inoculations in none of these genotypes (Fig. V.4). Taken together, our results suggest that C may have been a limiting growth factor for AM plants with lowered CK content in roots. Thus, normal CK levels in roots appear to be important for plants in order to compete with the fungal C sink when the CK levels in shoots are also normal.



Figure V.3. *Influence of AM inoculation on phosphorus and nitrogen content of tobacco plants.* The concentration (A) and total content (B) of phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N)(C, D) was measured in shoots of eight-week-old tobacco wild type (WT) plants and transgenic lines with root-specific (W6:CKX1) or systemic (35S:CKX1 and 35S:CKX2) cytokinin deficiency following inoculation with *R. irregularis* strain RI, FM or their co-inoculation (RI+FM) and compared to the respective non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (NAM) control plants. Values are means + SE. n = 10 for N and n = 5 for P. For each parameter, bars with similar letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to Duncan's multiple range test.


Figure V.4. Influence of AM inoculation on carbon concentration in shoots of tobacco plants. The concentration of carbon (C) was measured in shoots of eight-week-old tobacco wild type (WT) plants and transgenic lines with root-specific (*W6:CKX1*) or systemic (35S:CKX1 and 35S:CKX2) cytokinin deficiency following inoculation with *R*. *irregularis* strain RI, FM or their co-inoculation (RI+FM) and compared to the respective non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (NAM) control plants. Values are means + SE. *n* = 10. For each parameter, bars with similar letters are not significantly different (*P* < 0.05) according to Duncan's multiple range test.

Table V.3. *Content of phosphorus, nitrogen and carbon in shoots.* Tobacco line *W6:CKX1* with root-specific CK-deficiency, the *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* transgenic lines with systemic CK deficiency and their corresponding wild type where inoculated or not with the AM fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* strain RI or strain FM. Plants were grown in a glasshouse for eight weeks and sampled to determine the concentration and total content of phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N) as well as the concentration of carbon (C) in dry shoots. Three-way ANOVAs with the categorical factors tobacco lines, *R. irregularis* RI, and *R. irregularis* FM were used to determine the significant levels of *F* statistics. For the mean values see Fig. V.3 for N and P and Fig. V.4 for C. df, degrees of freedom.

Factors		P concent	ration		P total con	tent	N concentra	ation	N total con	tent	C concentra	ation
	df	F	Ρ	df	F	Ρ	F	Ρ	F	Ρ	F	Ρ
Tobacco line (T)	3	104.5	***	3	7.0	***	111.5	***	12.2	***	69.7	***
<i>R. irregularis</i> RI	1	42.2	***	1	4.0	(*)	19.0	***	0.0		0.0	
<i>R. irregularis</i> FM	1	5.5	*	1	0.6		9.0	**	0.2		0.1	
T x RI	3	6.0	**	3	1.2		6.2	***	2.6	(*)	1.4	
T x FM	3	7.4	***	3	0.1		14.9	***	0.7		3.3	*
RI x FM	1	0.0		1	0.1		0.1		3.8	(*)	0.0	
T x RI x FM	3	13.8	***	3	2.0		10.0	***	3.8	*	1.9	
Residuals	64			144								

For P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, significance levels of F values are presented as *, ** and ***, respectively, and are in bold. F values accompanied by (*) are marginally non-significant and are in italic. n = 5 for P and n = 10 for N and C.

Root transcript levels of phosphate transporter genes

AM fungi are known to induce in roots a higher transcript level of specific phosphate (Pi)transporter (PT) genes that regulate the mycorrhizal pathway for Pi supply inside the arbusculated cortex cells (Chen et al., 2007). Among these, PT4 is considered to be one of the best indicators of a functional AM association (Helber et al., 2011). At the same time, the PT genes that regulate the direct pathway for Pi uptake via root hairs and epidermis may be suppressed by AM fungi (Chen et al., 2007). To test whether plant CK homeostasis affects the impact of R. irregularis on the transcript levels of PT genes in the roots, we determined the relative transcription levels of NtPT4 and NtPT1 that regulate the mycorrhizal and direct pathway for Pi uptake in tobacco, respectively (Chen et al., 2007). The results confirm that R. *irregularis* induces a higher transcript level of *NtPT4*, which was increased up to 6000-fold upon fungal inoculation (Fig. V.5A; Table V.4). This induction did not differ significantly among R. *irregularis* strains or their co-inoculation across the different plant lines (Fig. V.5A). However, 35S:CKX1 expression reduced by approximately 80 % the induction of NtPT4 transcripts in roots following R. irregularis colonization compared with the induction noted in WT, W6:CKX1, and 35S:CKX2 plants (Fig. V.5A). The relative transcript levels of NtPT1 did not differ among the plant lines neither were they strongly affected by *R. irregularis* colonization, as the transcript levels varied only between 0.5 and 1.5-fold (Fig. V.5B). Overall, the AM fungus-induced transcription of NtPT4 was not altered by the root CK status but was dramatically reduced by a strongly CK-deficient shoot phenotype. Furthermore, we found no strong evidence for a suppressed direct Pi uptake pathway following AM fungal colonization.



Figure V.5. *Influence of AM inoculation on the expression of phosphate transporter genes in tobacco.* Steady state mRNA levels of the phosphate transporter genes NtPT4 (A) and NtPT1 (B) was measured in roots of eight-week-old tobacco wild type (WT) plants and transgenic lines with root-specific (W6:CKX1) or systemic (35S:CKX1 and 35S:CKX2) cytokinin deficiency following inoculation with *R. irregularis* strain RI, FM or their co-inoculation (RI+FM) and compared to the respective non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (NAM) control plants. Values are means + SE. n = 3. Each biological replicate contained roots from at least three individual plants. In both cases the expression level of WT in non-AM controls was set to 1. For each parameter, bars with similar letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to Duncan's multiple range test.

Table V.4. *Root transcript levels of phosphate transporter genes.* Tobacco line *W6:CKX1* with root-specific CK-deficiency, the *35S:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* transgenic lines with systemic CK deficiency and their corresponding wild type where inoculated or not with the AM fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* strain RI or strain FM. Plants were grown in a glasshouse for eight weeks and sampled to determine the relative expression levels of *NtPT4* and *NtPT1* using quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) analyses. Three-way ANOVAs with the categorical factors tobacco lines, *R. irregularis* RI, and *R. irregularis* FM were used to determine the significant levels of *F* statistics. For the mean values see Fig. 5. df, degrees of freedom.

Factors		NtPT	4	NtPT1		
	df	F	Ρ	F	Ρ	
Tobacco line (T)	3	11.9	***	1.2		
<i>R. irregularis</i> RI	1	22.4	***	7.9	**	
<i>R. irregularis</i> FM	1	55.3	***	2.6		
T x RI	3	1.9		2.2		
T x FM	3	4.0	*	4.4	*	
RI x FM	1	43.6	***	0.0		
T x RI x FM	3	1.2		4.2	*	
Residuals	30					

For P < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001, significance levels of F values are presented as *, ** and ***, respectively, and are in bold. F values accompanied by (*) are marginally non-significant and are in italic. n = 3.

Discussion

AM symbiosis is functionally important for plant nutrition, productivity and fitness, and plants can regulate their symbiotic interaction with AM fungi. However, the regulatory role of CK is poorly understood although it has been often reported that AM plants generally have enhanced CK levels in both roots and shoots (Allen et al., 1980; Baas & Kuiper, 1989; Drüge & Schonbeck, 1992; Danneberg et al., 1993; van Rhijn et al., 1997; Barker & Tagu, 2000; Torelli et al., 2000; Shaul-Keinan et al., 2002; Yao et al., 2005). In tobacco, P supply alone had similar positive effects on the CK metabolite levels in leaves as R. irregularis, while in roots the fungus induced specifically zeatin riboside and increased by 16-fold the concentration of isopentenyl adenosine as compared with P supply (Shaul-Keinan et al., 2002). This suggests a high degree of AM fungal specificity in increasing the CK levels in colonized roots. As a lowered CK status in tobacco may enhance R. irregularis hyphal colonization (Cosme & Wurst, 2013), it is plausible that increased levels of CK in roots may negatively feedback on further AM hyphal colonization. In the present study, a low systemic CK status in 35S:CKX1 plants reduced R. irregularis colonization. However, this reduction was not observed in the root-specific CK-deficient W6:CKX1 plants, which suggests that the reduced colonization in 35S:CKX1 may have been caused by the lowered CK levels in shoots and not in roots. Although we observed strong plantfungus interactions, possibly caused by specificities of plant and fungal genotypes, the use of different transgenic tobacco lines, R. irregularis strains and their co-inoculation unveiled several consistent functions of root CK: CK prevented root growth depression following R. irregularis colonization, restricted synergistic depression of plant growth and fitness as well as on C demand following strain co-inoculation, and secured a P benefit when the symbiotic cost on shoot growth and plant fitness was strong. Thus, contrary to the speculation that CK does not influence AM symbiosis (Foo *et al.*, 2013), our study provides genetic evidence that root CK is involved in regulating the AM symbiotic function and that this regulatory role is influenced by the shoot CK status.

The comparison of *R. irregularis* colonization in *W6:CKX1*, *35S:CKX1* and WT plants revealed a positive impact of shoot CK on AM symbiosis. This positive impact became apparent through the reduced AM colonization success in *35S:CKX1* plants which differed from the two other genotypes by a strongly reduced CK status of the shoot. The difference in AM colonization may

be caused by a lower sugar availability derived from source leaves, as 35S:CKX1 leaves have a 30 % reduction in sugar content compared with the WT (Werner et al., 2008). In addition, 35S:CKX1 plants accumulate 80 % more starch in sink leaves than the WT (Werner et al., 2008), which represent an aboveground sink that may contribute to restrict further the fungal access to C in roots, and consequently reduce the AM symbiotic development, i.e. decrease hyphal and arbuscules colonization and NtPT4 transcription. Consistently, this C restriction protected 35S:CKX1 roots against fungal parasitism. The root transcription of PT4 is specifically induced in cortex cells during arbuscule formation to equip the membranes for Pi transport (Chen et al., 2007; Franken et al., 2007) and was reported to require the transcription of an AM fungal monosaccharide transporter which in turn is induced by sugar availability (Helber et al., 2011). Thus, an indirect negative effect of a low shoot CK status on root NtPT4 transcription seems very likely, i.e. a reduced source of sugars in 35S:CKX1 plants could limit the NtPT4 transcription in response to AM colonization, reducing the AM pathway for P uptake (Fig. 6). Taken together, our study suggests that the general positive effects of AM fungi on shoot CK (e.g. Allen et al., 1980) may positively feedback on the functioning of AM symbiosis, possibly through an enhanced source of C.

The CK-deficient roots in *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* supported higher AM fungal colonization than *35S:CKX1* and were susceptible to AM-mediated root growth depression, while the WT was not. Yet, the induction of *NtPT4* transcripts was not significantly affected by root CK, as similar induction levels were observed in WT, *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2*. Furthermore, the plant uptake of P and N was not limited by the AM-mediated root growth depression. A remarkable and surprising result was the genotype-specific effect of fungal co-inoculation on plant growth. Co-inoculation with RI and FM neutralized their negative effects on shoot biomass formation of WT. However, it led to a synergistic reduction of the shoot and root biomass and C concentration in shoots of *W6:CKX1*, which suggests that a low CK status in roots may facilitate fungal acquisition of C independently of fungal P supply (Fig. 6). This might explain our previous results showing enhanced AM hyphal colonization without altered arbuscule formation in *35S:CKX2* plants (Cosme & Wurst, 2013). In line with this argument, several lines of evidence suggest that the intraradical hyphae may actively acquire C in roots independently of arbuscule formation: i) the extraradical mycelium begins to grow as soon as the intercellular hyphae colonize the root cortex and before the arbuscules are formed (Mosse & Hepper, 1975); ii) the

hyphae have superior longevity and are continuously connected to the external mycelium even when the arbuscules decline (Smith & Read, 2008); iii) the membranes of the intercellular hyphae have a high ATPase activity and therefore are energized for active transport of sugars (Harrison, 1999); iv) plant mutants with constitutive GA signaling and GA-treated roots were extensively colonized by intercellular hyphae without the presence of arbuscules (Floss et al., 2013); and v) the expression of a fungal monosaccharide transporter gene in intercellular AM hyphae indicates that these are important sites of fungal assimilation of sugars (Helber et al., 2011). Moreover, although CK-deficient roots have increased root growth rates (Werner et al., 2001; Werner et al., 2010), their sugar content was reduced, presumably because of rapid metabolic utilization due to the increased growth rate (Werner et al., 2008). This further implies that transfer of sugars from the plant to the AM fungus in CK-deficient roots is most likely mediated by active hyphal transport, with an AM fungal sink competing effectively with the sink systems of the host plant. Thus, an AM-specific increase of CK levels in tobacco roots (Shaul-Keinan *et al.*, 2002) might be involved in enhancing the C sink capacity of roots in relation to that of the fungus, which in turn may limit hyphal proliferation in roots (Cosme & Wurst, 2013) or avert fungal parasitism.

The relation between CK and growth of AM plants has been so far unclear. A strong correlation between increased CK levels and improved photosynthesis and growth of AM plants led to the hypothesis that CK is part of the positive AM effect on plant performance (Allen *et al.*, 1980; Drüge & Schonbeck, 1992). However, this hypothesis has been disputed as a correlation was not always observed (Baas & Kuiper, 1989; Danneberg *et al.*, 1993). Furthermore, AM fungi do not always increase simultaneously the CK levels in shoots and roots and may even reduce it in roots under specific conditions. The CK levels might decrease in AM roots under high P amendment (Torelli *et al.*, 2000) or temporarily during early colonization (Drüge & Schonbeck, 1992), which is often associated with plant growth depression (Smith & Read, 2008; Johnson, 2010). Neutral growth responses in AM plants have been associated with elevated root CK levels combined with small or no changes in shoot CK content (Baas & Kuiper, 1989; Danneberg *et al.*, 1993; Shaul-Keinan *et al.*, 2002). A stronger increase of the shoot CK content accompanied by elevated root CK levels could be causally involved in a positive plant growth response to AM symbiosis (Allen *et al.*, 1980; Drüge & Schonbeck, 1992; Yao *et al.*, 2005). A comparison between *in vitro* root organ cultures and *in planta* experiments suggested that auxin regulation of

AM colonization is shoot-dependent (Hanlon & Coenen, 2011). An organ-dependent phytohormone regulation of AM symbiosis is corroborated *in planta* by the CK effects observed in our study, in which increased shoot CK levels enhance AM symbiotic functioning in roots while increased levels of CK in roots enhance the C sink capacity of roots in relation to that of the fungus. Together this is likely to contribute to a balanced C for P exchange between symbionts (Fig. 6) and leads potentially to an enhanced growth of AM plants (Johnson, 2010). Although it remains to be determined how other phytohormones may interact with CK to regulate AM symbiosis, overall our study adds to the evidence that the phytohormone regulation of plant-supplied C and fungal-supplied P may be uncoupled (Floss *et al.*, 2013) and clearly demonstrates that plant CK status can affect profoundly the growth and fitness of a higher plant in response to an ubiquitous AM fungus.



Figure V.6. *Proposed model for the regulation of bidirectional exchange of carbon and phosphorus in AM symbiosis by cytokinin.* A normal CK status in shoots and in roots contributes to balance the bidirectional flow of carbon (C) and phosphorus (P) between symbionts (balanced symbiosis), which is required for a greater potential growth of AM plants (Johnson, 2010). A normal CK status of the shoots combined with reduced CK status in the roots maintain a strong source of C from the shoots into the roots but may reduce the sink capacity of the roots in relation to that of the AM fungi, irrespective of P supply, causing an unbalanced C for P exchange between symbionts (unbalanced symbiosis), which can lead to fungal parasitism and reduced plant growth (Johnson, 2010). A strongly reduced CK status of the shoots negatively regulates the source of C from the shoots by reducing the availability of sugars (Werner *et al.*, 2008), which may be causally involved in reducing the AM pathway for P uptake (Nouri *et al.*, 2014), irrespective of the root CK status (reduced symbiosis). Arrow thickness illustrates the relative flow strength of C or P.

Acknowledgments

MC dedicates this article to Michael F. Allen and Martha Christensen who provided the first demonstration of different cytokinin content in arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) versus non-AM plants more than thirty five years ago. We are thankful to Kerstin Fischer, Monika Fünning, Kerstin Schmidt, and Dominic Schmitz for technical help. MC was supported by the doctoral grant SFRH/BD/81785/2011 from Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, Portugal.

Supplementary information to Chapter V

Gene name	Gene bank accession No.	Primer sequence
NtEF-1a	AF120093	5'- TGAGATGCACCACGAAGCTC -3' 5'- CCAACATTGTCACCAGGAAGTG -3'
NtL25	L18908	5'- CCCCTCACCACAGAGTCTGC -3' 5'- AAGGGTGTTGTTGTCCTCAATCTT -3'
NtPT1	AB020061	5'- AGCGTTCATTGCTGCTGTTT -3' 5'- AGAGCGTCGGCATGATATGT -3'
NtPT4	EF091672	5'- GTCAACTCGTGGGGGCGTTTAT -3' 5'- CTCAGGCTCCGTGGACAAAAT -3'

 Table V.S1. Primers used for quantitative real-time RT-PCR.

Chapter VI: General discussion

The global human population has increased exponentially in recent years and brought major challenges to the human food supply, whereas modern intensification of crop production was followed by several environmental problems and still left many people hungry or malnourished. Although the goals of modern agriculture have been traditionally the enhancement of crop yields, a more sustainable production and a higher nutritional value of plant foods have emerged as the new agricultural paradigms. These paradigms are indirectly linked to the effectiveness of crop roots to overcome mineral nutrient and water limitations in soils, and a part of the solution to enhance yields and nutritional value of crop foods in a more sustainable manner might be found in the overlooked rhizosphere. Terrestrial plants have co-evolved with belowground mutualistic microbes that perform important ecological functions in the rhizosphere and whose complex interactions are far from being fully understood. These microbes can also interact actively with intrinsic developmental and physiological pathways of their host plants, which in turn can mediate not only the plant-microbe mutualism but also the plant interaction with other important ecological factors.

The present thesis had two main objectives as identified in the introduction: 1) to test novel effects of beneficial microbes on crop plants related with new agricultural paradigms; and 2) to investigate the role of intrinsic plant regulators involved in microbial effects on crop plants. In the **chapter II**, I have focused on the effects of AM fungal colonization on the aboveground oviposition on rice plants by RWW, an important global pest of rice. In the **chapter III**, I have tested the defensive effect of a Sebacinalean root endophyte against RWW attacks on rice, and demonstrated the intrinsic phytohormonal regulators involved in this defensive effect. To explore the potential of AM fungi as helper in the fight against micronutrient malnutrition, in the **chapter IV** I have focused on the AM fungal effects on the nutraceutical value of edible leaves of *M. oleifera*. Finally, in **chapter V**, I demonstrated how the root and shoot CK status regulate the AM symbiotic functioning in tobacco.

Chapter II

The study presented in chapter II shows that the AM fungus *R. irregularis* can increase the aboveground oviposition by rice water weevil (RWW) females, whose subsequent larval offspring feed on roots. The AM fungus-inoculated rice plants preferred for oviposition had higher concentrations of N and P in shoots and of N in roots than the non-AM control plants, suggesting that the female oviposition choice of RWW may be affected by the nutritional status of the plants. Positive effects of AM fungi on the survival of the root-feeding larvae of clover root weevil were associated with an AM fungus-mediated increase in N concentration of the whole plant (Currie *et al.*, 2011). This suggests that the oviposition preference of RWW females may be potentially related to a better performance of the root feeding larvae. However, further investigation is required to elucidate the effects of AM fungi and plant N status on the larval performance of RWW.

The aboveground feeding of RWW adults, measured as consumed leaf area per plant, was not affected by *G. intraradices*. Gange (2001) reported negative effects of different magnitude of *F. mosseae* and *R. fasciculatum* on the leaf area consumed on strawberry plants by black vine weevil adults, whose larvae are also root-feeders. The inconsistency between studies may be due to the host plant–AM fungal species specificity (Dhillion, 1992; Klironomos, 2003). Furthermore, as observed in previous studies (Stout & Riggio, 2002; Stout *et al.*, 2002; Tindall & Stout, 2003), the adult of RWW might be more tolerant to changes in plant quality for feeding than for oviposition.

The ability of insect females to adjust oviposition behavior depending on plant AM status is a novel aspect of below- and aboveground ecological interactions. The results also indicate that belowground AM colonization may decrease rice plant resistance against an important insect pest. In a field study conducted at the Rice Research Station Agricultural Center of the Louisiana State University (USA), in collaboration with Prof. Dr. Michael J Stout, the inoculation of rice plots led to an increase in numbers of RWW larvae compared with that of uninoculated rice plots (unpublished data), supporting the hypothesis that AM fungal inoculation decrease the resistance of rice plant against RWW. These results encouraged me to focus on other belowground plant-

fungus mutualism to investigate potential defensive effects, which became the aim of the next chapter.

Chapter III

The study presented in chapter III demonstrates that plant-herbivore interactions are affected by *P. indica*, a model endophyte with agronomic potential (Qiang *et al.*, 2012). *P. indica* enhanced rice defense to herbivory mediated by induced root tolerance, i.e. endophyte-colonized plants infested with RWW larvae gained more shoot biomass, tillers, root biomass and total root length compared with plants infested with larvae without *P. indica*, but the root resistance measured as larval survival and growth was not affected by the endophyte. Therefore, Sebacinalean root endophytes, in addition to protecting plants against root and shoot pathogens and salt stress (Waller *et al.*, 2005), can improve plant defense against root herbivores.

An apparent synergistic positive effect of RWW adults and larvae on induced JA in roots was associated with a significant additive negative effect on total root length accompanied by similar negative effects on root biomass, shoot biomass and number of tillers, while the negative effect of RWW on WT roots was not detected in *coi1-18* roots. Taken together, this suggests that RWW effects on plant growth were mediated by induced JA signaling in roots. Two key mechanisms leading to JA-mediated growth inhibition are the JA-modulation of GA biosynthesis and the JAZ interference with the interaction between DELLAs and growth-promoting PIF transcription factors (Yang *et al.*, 2012; Heinrich *et al.*, 2013; Matschi *et al.*, 2015). In the study presented in chapter III, *P. indica*-induced GA signaling was required to establish a mutualistic association with rice, while the stronger plant growth inhibition of *Eui1-OX* plants due to root herbivory suggests that negative effects of RWW larvae on plant growth are counteracted by GA signaling in WT. Taken together, as illustrated by the proposed model presented in Fig. III.5, an enhanced GA signaling and suppressed JA signaling in roots is one mechanism by which *P. indica* induces plant tolerance to RWW. This study appears to be the first showing the impact of a root endophyte on plant defense against belowground herbivory.

Chapter IV

The study present in chapter IV appears to be the first evidence for systemic effects of AM fungi on glucosinolates in aboveground plant tissues, which are often consumed as vegetables. To date, only two studies have shown that AM fungi can enhance the levels of glucosinolates in roots of *Tropaeolum* sp. in a non-species-specific manner (Vierheilig *et al.*, 2000; Ludwig-Müller *et al.*, 2002). Consistently, in the study presented in chapter IV, the systemic effects of AM fungal colonization of roots on the levels of glucosinolates in leaves of *M. oleifera* were not specifically dependent on *R. intraradices*, *F. mosseae*, or their combination.

Several carotenoids are bioactive against chronic diseases in humans when consumed as part of a diet (Baldermann *et al.*, 2013). All the measured carotenoids in *M. oleifera* leaves, including the important β -carotene (pro-vitamin A) targeted for biofortification (Mayer *et al.*, 2008), were significantly reduced by AM fungal colonization of roots (only lutein showed a marginal reduction by *R. intraradices*). *F. mosseae* had stronger negative impacts than *R. irregularis* on all carotenoids, which suggest these effects were species-specific. These results contrast with others showing positive effects of AM fungi on carotenoids in crop plants (Krishna *et al.*, 2005; Mena-Violante *et al.*, 2006; Farmer *et al.*, 2007; Baslam *et al.*, 2011a; Baslam *et al.*, 2013; Tong *et al.*, 2013). Also contrary to these studies, in chapter IV the plant growth was not enhanced by AM fungi, and the negative effects of AM fungal colonization on carotenoid levels could be related with a redundant fungal sink for sugars, which combined with reduced levels of chlorophylls (data not shown) could have restricted carotenoid biosynthesis in leaves.

Zn and Cu levels in *M. oleifera* leaves were enhanced by AM fungi, which are a well documented effects (Marschner, 1995). The lack of these mineral elements is an important cause of micronutrient malnutrition in humans (Mayer *et al.*, 2008; White & Broadley, 2009). Interestingly, Zn in *M. oleifera* leaves was only increased by the co-inoculation with *R. intraradices* and *F. mosseae*, but not when each fungal species was inoculated alone, which suggests a functional complementarity among species in term of enhanced Zn in leaves. Overall, the study presented in chapter IV encourages research on other AM fungi and their combinations to achieve general benefits on bioactive compounds in edible tissues of *M. oleifera*.

Chapter V

In study presented in chapter V, a low systemic CK status in 35S:CKX1 tobacco plants reduced *R. irregularis* colonization and induction of *NtPT4* transcription. However, this reduction was not observed in the root-specific CK-deficient *W6:CKX1* plants, which suggests that the reduced colonization in 35S:CKX1 was caused by the lowered CK levels in shoots and not in roots. Moreover, the use of different transgenic tobacco lines, *R. irregularis* strains and their co-inoculation unveiled several consistent functions of root CK: CK prevented root growth depression following *R. irregularis* colonization, restricted synergistic depression of plant growth and fitness as well as on C demand following strain co-inoculation, and secured a P benefit when the symbiotic cost on shoot growth and plant fitness was strong.

The negative effects of lower shoot CK levels on hyphal and arbuscules colonization and *NtPT4* transcription may be caused by a lower sugar availability derived from source leaves, as *35S:CKX1* leaves have a 30 % reduction in sugar content compared with the WT (Werner *et al.*, 2008), while the root transcription of *PT4* was reported to require the transcription of an AM fungal monosaccharide transporter which in turn is induced by sugar availability (Helber et al., 2011). Consistently, this sugar restriction protected *35S:CKX1* roots against fungal parasitism. Hence, these results suggests that the general positive effects of AM fungi on shoot CK (e.g. Allen *et al.*, 1980) may positively feedback on the functioning of AM symbiosis, possibly through an enhanced source of C.

The CK-deficient roots in *W6:CKX1* and *35S:CKX2* supported higher AM fungal colonization than *35S:CKX1* and were susceptible to AM-mediated root growth depression, while the WT was not. Yet, the induction of *NtPT4* transcripts was not significantly affected by root CK. Co-inoculation with RI and FM neutralized their negative effects on shoot biomass formation of WT. However, it led to a synergistic reduction of the shoot and root biomass and C concentration in shoots of *W6:CKX1*, which suggests that a low CK status in roots may facilitate fungal acquisition of C independently of fungal P supply. Several lines of evidence suggest that the intraradical hyphae may actively acquire C in roots independently of arbuscules formation (Mosse & Hepper, 1975; Harrison, 1999; Smith & Read, 2008; Helber *et al.*, 2011; Floss *et al.*, 2013). As CK-deficient roots have lower sugar contents (Werner *et al.*, 2008), this implies that

transfer of sugars from the plant to the AM fungus in CK-deficient roots is most likely mediated by active hyphal transport, with an AM fungal sink competing effectively with the sink systems of the host plant. Thus, an AM-specific increase of CK levels in tobacco roots (Shaul-Keinan *et al.*, 2002) might be involved in enhancing the C sink capacity of roots in relation to that of the fungus.

A strong correlation between increased CK levels and improved photosynthesis and growth of AM plants led to the hypothesis that CK is part of the positive AM effect on plant performance (Allen *et al.*, 1980; Drüge & Schonbeck, 1992). However, this hypothesis has been disputed as a correlation was not always observed (Baas & Kuiper, 1989; Danneberg *et al.*, 1993). Moreover, the CK levels might be decreased in AM roots under high P amendment (Torelli *et al.*, 2000) or temporarily during early colonization (Drüge & Schonbeck, 1992), which is often associated with plant growth depression (Smith & Read, 2008; Johnson, 2010). Neutral growth responses in AM plants have been associated with elevated root CK levels combined with small or no changes in shoot CK content (Baas & Kuiper, 1989; Danneberg *et al.*, 1993; Shaul-Keinan *et al.*, 2002). The study presented in chapter V proposes a model (Fig. V.6) where the CK effects on AM symbiosis are organ-specific, in which increased shoot CK levels enhance AM symbiotic functioning in roots while increased levels of CK in roots enhance the C sink capacity of roots in relation to that of the fungus. Together this is likely to contribute to a balanced C for P exchange between symbionts and potentially lead to an enhanced growth of AM plants (Johnson, 2010).

Synthesis

In order to address the two main objects of my thesis, I started by testing the effects of two model plant-microbe mutualisms on the interaction between rice plants and RWW (**chapter II and III**). Rice is one of the major staple foods providing 20 % of the energy intakes by the global human population. The RWW is a belowground pest of rice present in the biggest rice producing regions of the world (Stout *et al.*, 2002) and poses a threat to food security. Past management programs for RWW relied almost exclusively on insecticides, some of which were banned due to health- and environmental-related concerns (Stout *et al.*, 2001), creating a need for new management practices. In a greenhouse study, I found that AM fungi can enhanced the aboveground oviposition by RWW, which is a novel aspect of agro-ecological interactions. This

suggests that AM colonization may decrease rice resistance against RWW, which was supported by a field study conducted in collaboration with Prof. Dr. Michael J Stout. This support the notion that soil fungi that are generally considered beneficial in terms of nutrient uptake may not be beneficial in respect to anti-herbivore protection. In contrast, the Sebacinalean root endophyte P. indica could enhance rice defense to herbivory by RWW, mediated by induced root tolerance and without affecting root resistance. Using a set of laboratory experiments, I provided evidence that the endophyte-induced root tolerance was mediated by induction of GA signaling and suppression of JA signaling. Overall, belowground plant-microbe mutualisms can affect dramatically the interaction between a globally important crop plant and an important insect pest. These effects are at least partially mediated by plant intrinsic regulators and should be considered in future management practices. Next, I tested the impacts of AM fungi on the nutraceutical properties of edible leaves of *M. oleifera* (chapter IV). The enhancement of the nutritional value of plant foods is instrumental to combat diet-related diseases affecting the health of many people around the globe (Welch & Graham, 1999; Mayer et al., 2008; Antunes et al., 2012). The high nutritional value and the adaptability of *M. oleifera* to the climate of some of the most affected regions have generated research interest in this crop. In a pot experiment, I found that AM fungi can affect the levels of important bioactive compounds and mineral elements in leaves of M. oleifera. The non-specific positive effects of AM fungi on glucosinolates and their speciesspecific negative effects on carotenoids encourage research on other AM fungal species and their combinations to achieve general benefits on bioactive compounds in M. oleifera. Finally, I tested the role of root and shoot CK status on AM symbiosis (chapter V). CK is an important intrinsic regulator of plant growth and development (Werner & Schmülling, 2009), and AM plants generally have increased CK levels in roots and shoots (Allen *et al.*, 1980; Barker & Tagu, 2000; Shaul-Keinan et al., 2002). I observed that organ-specific CK status can affect profoundly the plant performance in response to AM symbiosis, and I proposed that CK in roots and in shoots contribute to a balanced C for P exchange between symbionts.

The results presented here provide significant contributions to the field of plant-microbe interactions and have potential application in crop management practices targeted at sustainable production and nutritional enhancement of plant foods (Mayer *et al.*, 2008; Gewin, 2010). It is widely recognized that the function of plant-microbe mutualisms, generally measured in terms of plant yield, is depends on several ecological factors including fungal genotypes (Klironomos,

2003; Kogel et al., 2006; Angelard et al., 2010; Johnson, 2010). The present thesis also supports this notion and adds evidence that variation depend on the functional traits of interest under evaluation, sometimes independently of the fungal genotype or plant yield. For instance, AM fungi and P. indica had opposite effects on rice defense against RWW, while the effects of AM fungi on M. oleifera quality or tobacco growth dependent on the fungal genotypes or their coinoculations, but the same fungal genotype could have positive and negatives effects on different parameters of interest. Furthermore, AM fungi are generally recognized as beneficial microbes that can contribute to improve agriculture production (Smith, F & Smith, S, 2011; Verbruggen et al., 2013). However, this thesis suggests that the incorporation of AM fungi in wetland rice might have detrimental effects if the infestation by RWW is a major constraint. By contrast, in such case, the exploitation of P. indica could be a positive complement to rice management strategies. Thus, both considerations could potentially contribute to reduce chemicals inputs required to control RWW. Moreover, in this thesis the phytohormones were important regulators of the microbial mutualistic functions. For instance, root CK was an important mechanism to balance the nutrient exchange in AM symbiosis, while GA was an important mechanism of microbe-induced root tolerance against herbivory. These findings provide new mechanistic bases for plant biology research and should be integrated in molecular plant breeding. This might permit in turn a better agronomical exploitation of belowground microbes and contribute to improve our ability to meet the nutritional needs of an increasing global population.

Bibliography

- Acosta IF, Gasperini D, Chételat A, Stolz S, Santuari L, Farmer EE. 2013. Role of ninja in root jasmonate signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110: 15473-15478.
- Allen MF, Moore Jr TS, Christensen M. 1980. Phytohormone changes in *bouteloua gracilis* infected by vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae: I. Cytokinin increases in the host plant. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 58: 371-374.
- Angelard C, Colard A, Niculita-Hirzel H, Croll D, Sanders IR. 2010. Segregation in a mycorrhizal fungus alters rice growth and symbiosis-specific gene transcription. *Current Biology* 20: 1216-1221.
- Antunes P, Franken P, Schwarz D, Rillig M, Cosme M, Scott M, Hart M 2012. Linking soil biodiversity and human health: Do arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi contribute to food nutrition? In: D. Wall ed. Soil ecology and ecosystrem services. UK: Oxford University Press.
- Anwar F, Latif S, Ashraf M, Gilani AH. 2007. *Moringa oleifera*: A food plant with multiple medicinal uses. *Phytotherapy Research* 21: 17-25.
- Asaolu VO, Odeyinka SM, Akinbamijo OO. 2012. The effects of four strains of mycorrhizal fungi and goat manure on fodder production by *moringa oleifera* under rain-fed conditions in he gambia. *Agriculture and Biology Journal of North America* **3**: 365-373
- Asensio D, Rapparini F, Penuelas J. 2012. Am fungi root colonization increases the production of essential isoprenoids vs. Nonessential isoprenoids especially under drought stress conditions or after jasmonic acid application. *Phytochemistry* **77**: 149-161.
- Awmack CS, Leather SR. 2002. Host plant quality and fecundity in herbivorous insects. Annual Review of Entomology 47: 817-844.
- Baas R, Kuiper D. 1989. Effects of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal infection and phosphate on plantago major ssp. Pleiosperma in relation to internal cytokinin concentrations. Physiologia Plantarum 76: 211-215.
- Baldermann S, Yang Z, Sakai M, Fleischmann P, Morita A, Todoroki Y, Watanabe N. 2013. Influence of exogenously applied abscisic acid on carotenoid content and water uptake in flowers of the tea plant (*camellia sinensis*). Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 93: 1660-1664.
- Barazani O, Benderoth M, Groten K, Kuhlemeier C, Baldwin I. 2005. *Piriformospora indica* and *sebacina vermifera* increase growth performance at the expense of herbivore resistance in *nicotiana attenuata*. *Oecologia* 146: 234-243.
- Barazani O, von Dahl CC, Baldwin IT. 2007. Sebacina vermifera promotes the growth and fitness of *nicotiana attenuata* by inhibiting ethylene signaling. *Plant Physiology* 144: 1223-1232.
- **Barker SJ, Tagu D. 2000.** The roles of auxins and cytokinins in mycorrhizal symbioses. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* **19**: 144-154.
- Baslam M, Esteban R, García-Plazaola J, Goicoechea N. 2013. Effectiveness of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (amf) for inducing the accumulation of major carotenoids, chlorophylls and tocopherol in green and red leaf lettuces. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 97: 3119-3128.

- **Baslam M, Garmendia I, Goicoechea N. 2011a.** Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (amf) improved growth and nutritional quality of greenhouse-grown lettuce. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **59**: 5504-5515.
- **Baslam M, Goicoechea N. 2012.** Water deficit improved the capacity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (amf) for inducing the accumulation of antioxidant compounds in lettuce leaves. *Mycorrhiza* **22**: 347-359.
- Baslam M, Pascual I, Sánchez-Díaz M, Erro J, García-Mina JM, Goicoechea N. 2011b. Improvement of nutritional quality of greenhouse-grown lettuce by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi is conditioned by the source of phosphorus nutrition. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **59**: 11129-11140.
- Bennett RN, Mellon FA, Foidl N, Pratt JH, Dupont MS, Perkins L, Kroon PA. 2003. Profiling glucosinolates and phenolics in vegetative and reproductive tissues of the multipurpose trees *moringa oleifera* 1. (horseradish tree) and *moringa stenopetala* 1. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 51: 3546-3553.
- Bezemer TM, Wagenaar R, Van Dam NM, Wäckers FL. 2003. Interactions between aboveand belowground insect herbivores as mediated by the plant defense system. *Oikos* 101: 555-562.
- Bitterlich M, Krügel U, Boldt-Burisch K, Franken P, Kühn C. 2014. The sucrose transporter slsut2 from tomato interacts with brassinosteroid functioning and affects arbuscular mycorrhiza formation. *The Plant Journal* **78**: 877-889.
- Brenner WG, Romanov GA, Köllmer I, Bürkle L, Schmülling T. 2005. Immediate-early and delayed cytokinin response genes of *arabidopsis thaliana* identified by genome-wide expression profiling reveal novel cytokinin-sensitive processes and suggest cytokinin action through transcriptional cascades. *The Plant Journal* 44: 314-333.
- Brown VK, Gange AC. 1990. Insect herbivory below ground. *Advances in Ecological Research* 20: 1-58.
- Bucher M, Hause B, Krajinski F, Küster H. 2014. Through the doors of perception to function in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. *New Phytologist* 204: 833-840.
- Camehl I, Sherameti I, Venus Y, Bethke G, Varma A, Lee J, Oelmüller R. 2010. Ethylene signalling and ethylene-targeted transcription factors are required to balance beneficial and nonbeneficial traits in the symbiosis between the endophytic fungus *piriformospora indica* and *arabidopsis thaliana*. *New Phytologist* **185**: 1062-1073.
- Campos-Soriano L, García-Garrido JM, Segundo BS. 2010. Activation of basal defense mechanisms of rice plants by *glomus intraradices* does not affect the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *New Phytologist* 188: 597-614.
- Cardarelli M, Rouphael Y, Rea E, Lucini L, Pellizzoni M, Colla G. 2013. Effects of fertilization, arbuscular mycorrhiza, and salinity on growth, yield, and bioactive compounds of two *aloe* species. *Hortscience* 48: 568-575.
- Ceccarelli N, Curadi M, Martelloni L, Sbrana C, Picciarelli P, Giovannetti M. 2010. Mycorrhizal colonization impacts on phenolic content and antioxidant properties of artichoke leaves and flower heads two years after field transplant. *Plant and Soil* 335: 311-323.
- Chapman HD, Prat PF. 1961. *Methods of analysis for soils, plants and water*. Berkeley, CA, USA: University of California.

- Chen A, Hu J, Sun S, Xu G. 2007. Conservation and divergence of both phosphate- and mycorrhiza-regulated physiological responses and expression patterns of phosphate transporters in solanaceous species. *New Phytologist* **173**: 817-831.
- Clark KE, Hartley SE, Johnson SN. 2011. Does mother know best? The preference– performance hypothesis and parent–offspring conflict in aboveground–belowground herbivore life cycles. *Ecological Entomology* 36: 117-124.
- Colebrook EH, Thomas SG, Phillips AL, Hedden P. 2014. The role of gibberellin signalling in plant responses to abiotic stress. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* 217: 67-75.
- Cordell D, White S. 2011. Peak phosphorus: Clarifying the key issues of a vigorous debate about long-term phosphorus security. *Sustainability* **3**: 2027.
- Cosme M, Franken P, Mewis I, Baldermann S, Wurst S. 2014. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi affect glucosinolate and mineral element composition in leaves of *moringa oleifera*. *Mycorrhiza* 24: 565-570.
- Cosme M, Stout M, Wurst S. 2011. Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (glomus intraradices) on the oviposition of rice water weevil (lissorhoptrus oryzophilus). Mycorrhiza 21: 651-658.
- **Cosme M, Wurst S. 2013.** Interactions between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, rhizobacteria, soil phosphorus and plant cytokinin deficiency change the root morphology, yield and quality of tobacco. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **57**: 436-443.
- Currie AF, Murray PJ, Gange AC. 2011. Is a specialist root-feeding insect affected by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi? *Applied Soil Ecology* 47: 77-83.
- Danneberg G, Latus C, Zimmer W, Hundeshagen B, Schneider-Poetsch H, Bothe H. 1993. Influence of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza on phytohormone balances in maize (*zea* mays 1.). Journal of Plant Physiology 141: 33-39.
- Davière J-M, Achard P. 2013. Gibberellin signaling in plants. Development 140: 1147-1151.
- **Dhillion SS. 1992.** Host-endophyte specificity of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of *oryza sativa* 1. At the pre-transplant stage in low or high phosphorus soil. *Soil Biology* & *Biochemistry* **24**: 405-411.
- **Dhillion SS, Ampornpan L-a. 1992.** The influence of inorganic nutrient fertilization on the growth, nutrient composition and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of pretransplant rice (*oryza sativa* l.) plants. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* **13**: 85-91.
- Doebley JF, Gaut BS, Smith BD. 2006. The molecular genetics of crop domestication. *Cell* 127: 1309-1321.
- **Dolatabadi H, Goltapeh E, Moieni A, Jaimand K, Sardrood B, Varma A. 2011.** Effect of *piriformospora indica* and *sebacina vermifera* on plant growth and essential oil yield in *thymus vulgaris in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. *Symbiosis* **53**: 29-35.
- **Douds DD, Schenck NC. 1990.** Increased sporulation of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi by manipulation of nutrient regimens. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **56**: 413-418.
- **Drüge U, Schonbeck F. 1992.** Effect of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal infection on transpiration, photosynthesis and growth of flax (*linum usitatissimum* l.) in relation to cytokinin levels. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **141**: 40-48.
- Erb M, Glauser G, Robert CM. 2012a. Induced immunity against belowground insect herbivores-activation of defenses in the absence of a jasmonate burst. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 38: 629-640.

- Erb M, Meldau S, Howe GA. 2012b. Role of phytohormones in insect-specific plant reactions. *Trends in Plant Science* 17: 250-259.
- Estrada C, Wcislo WT, Van Bael SA. 2013. Symbiotic fungi alter plant chemistry that discourages leaf-cutting ants. *New Phytologist* 198: 241-251.
- Farmer MJ, Li X, Feng G, Zhao B, Chatagnier O, Gianinazzi S, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, van Tuinen D. 2007. Molecular monitoring of field-inoculated amf to evaluate persistence in sweet potato crops in china. *Applied Soil Ecology* 35: 599-609.
- Ferreira PMP, Farias DF, Oliveira JTD, Carvalho ADU. 2008. Moringa oleifera: Bioactive compounds and nutritional potential. *Revista De Nutricao-Brazilian Journal of Nutrition* 21: 431-437.
- Floss DS, Levy JG, Lévesque-Tremblay V, Pumplin N, Harrison MJ. 2013. Della proteins regulate arbuscule formation in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110: E5025-E5034.
- Foo E. 2013. Auxin influences strigolactones in pea mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 170: 523-528.
- Foo E, Ross JJ, Jones WT, Reid JB. 2013. Plant hormones in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses: An emerging role for gibberellins. *Annals of Botany* 111: 769-779.
- Förster N, Ulrichs C, Schreiner M, Müller CT, Mewis I. 2015. Development of a reliable extraction and quantification method for glucosinolates in *moringa oleifera*. Food Chemistry 166: 456-464.
- Franken P, Donges K, Grunwald U, Kost G, Rexer K-H, Tamasloukht MB, Waschke A, Zeuske D. 2007. Gene expression analysis of arbuscule development and functioning. *Phytochemistry* **68**: 68-74.
- Gange AC. 2001. Species-specific responses of a root- and shoot-feeding insect to arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of its host plant. *New Phytologist* **150**: 611-618.
- Gewin V. 2010. Food: An underground revolution. *Nature* 466: 552-553.
- Giovannetti M, Avio L, Barale R, Ceccarelli N, Cristofani R, Iezzi A, Mignolli F, Picciarelli P, Pinto B, Reali D, Sbrana C, Scarpato R. 2012. Nutraceutical value and safety of tomato fruits produced by mycorrhizal plants. *British Journal of Nutrition* 107: 242-251.
- Graham R, Senadhira D, Beebe S, Iglesias C, Monasterio I. 1999. Breeding for micronutrient density in edible portions of staple food crops: Conventional approaches. *Field Crops Research* 60: 57-80.
- Gripenberg S, Mayhew PJ, Parnell M, Roslin T. 2010. A meta-analysis of preference– performance relationships in phytophagous insects. *Ecology Letters* 13: 383-393.
- Gutjahr C. 2014. Phytohormone signaling in arbuscular mycorhiza development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 20: 26-34.
- Gutjahr C, Casieri L, Paszkowski U. 2009. *Glomus intraradices* induces changes in root system architecture of rice independently of common symbiosis signaling. *New Phytologist* 182: 829-837.
- Hamm JC, Stout MJ, Riggio RM. 2010. Herbivore- and elicitor-induced resistance in rice to the rice water weevil (*lissorhoptrus oryzophilus* kuschel) in the laboratory and field. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **36**: 192-199.
- Hanlon MT, Coenen C. 2011. Genetic evidence for auxin involvement in arbuscular mycorrhiza initiation. *New Phytologist* 189: 701-709.
- Harrison MJ. 1999. Molecular and cellular aspects of the arbusculae mycorrhizal symbiosis. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 50: 361-389.

- Hart MM, Forsythe JA. 2012. Using arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to improve the nutrient quality of crops; nutritional benefits in addition to phosphorus. *Scientia Horticulturae* 148: 206-214.
- Hart MM, Reader RJ. 2002. Taxonomic basis for variation in the colonization strategy of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist* 153: 335-344.
- Hartley SE, Gange AC. 2009. Impacts of plant symbiotic fungi on insect herbivores: Mutualism in a multitrophic context. *Annual Review of Entomology* **54**: 323-342.
- He X, Nara K. 2007. Element biofortification: Can mycorrhizas potentially offer a more effective and sustainable pathway to curb human malnutrition? *Trends in Plant Science* 12: 331-333.
- Heinrich M, Hettenhausen C, Lange T, Wünsche H, Fang J, Baldwin IT, Wu J. 2013. High levels of jasmonic acid antagonize the biosynthesis of gibberellins and inhibit the growth of *nicotiana attenuata* stems. *The Plant Journal* **73**: 591-606.
- Helber N, Wippel K, Sauer N, Schaarschmidt S, Hause B, Requena N. 2011. A versatile monosaccharide transporter that operates in the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *glomus* sp is crucial for the symbiotic relationship with plants. *The Plant Cell* 23: 3812-3823.
- Herms DA, Mattson WJ. 1992. The dilemma of plants: To grow or defend. *Quarterly Review* of Biology 67: 283-335.
- Herrera-Medina MJ, Gagnon H, Piche Y, Ocampo JA, Garrido JMG, Vierheilig H. 2003. Root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi is affected by the salicylic acid content of the plant. *Plant Science* 164: 993-998.
- Hetrick BAD, Wilson GWT, Cox TS. 1993. Mycorrhizal dependence of modern wheat cultivars and ancestors: A synthesis. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 71: 512-518.
- Hix RL, Johnson DT, Bernhardt JL. 2000. Swimming behavior of an aquatic weevil, lissorhoptrus oryzophilus (coleoptera : Curculionidae). *Florida Entomologist* 83: 316-324.
- Hou X, Lee LYC, Xia K, Yan Y, Yu H. 2010. Dellas modulate jasmonate signaling via competitive binding to jazs. *Developmental cell* 19: 884-894.
- Howe GA, Jander G 2008. Plant immunity to insect herbivores. *Annual review of plant biology*. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews, 41-66.
- Hunter MD. 2001. Out of sight, out of mind: The impacts of root-feeding insects in natural and managed systems. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology* **3**: 3-9.
- Jacobs S, Zechmann B, Molitor A, Trujillo M, Petutschnig E, Likpa V, Kogel KH, Schäfer P. 2011. Broad-spectrum suppression of innate immunity is required for colonization of *arabidopsis* roots by the fungus *piriformospora indica*. *Plant Physiology* 156: 726-740.
- Jaenike J. 1978. On optimal oviposition behavior in phytophagous insects. *Theoretical Population Biology* 14: 350-356.
- Jansa J, Smith FA, Smith SE. 2008. Are there benefits of simultaneous root colonization by different arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi? *New Phytologist* 177: 779-789.
- Jiang M, Way M, Du X, Ji X, He Y. 2008. Reproductive biology of summer/fall populations of rice water weevil, *lissorhoptrus oryzophilus* kuschel, in southeastern texas. *Southwestern Entomologist* 33: 129-137.
- Johnson NC. 2010. Resource stoichiometry elucidates the structure and function of arbuscular mycorrhizas across scales. *New Phytologist* 185: 631-647.

- Johnson SN, Birch ANE, Gregory PJ, Murray PJ. 2006. The 'mother knows best' principle: Should soil insects be included in the preference–performance debate? *Ecological Entomology* 31: 395-401.
- Kaur C, Kapoor HC. 2001. Antioxidants in fruits and vegetables the millennium's health. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology* **36**: 703-725.
- Khatabi B, Molitor A, Lindermayr C, Pfiffi S, Durner J, von Wettstein D, Kogel K-H, Schäfer P. 2012. Ethylene supports colonization of plant roots by the mutualistic fungus *piriformospora indica*. *Plos One* 7: e35502.
- Kieber JJ, Schaller GE 2014. Cytokinins. *The arabidopsis book*: The American Society of Plant Biologists, e0168.
- Klironomos JN 2000. Host-specificity and functional diversity among arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi.In M. B. C. R. Bell, and P. Johnson-Green *Microbial biosystems: new frontiers. Proceedings of the Eighth International Symposium on Microbial Ecology.* Halifax, Canada: Atlantic Canada Society for Microbial Ecology. 845-851.
- Klironomos JN. 2003. Variation in plant response to native and exotic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Ecology* 84: 2292-2301.
- Knopf E, Blaschke H, Munch JC. 2013. Improving moringa growth by using autochthonous and allochthonous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in lake victoria basin. *West African Journal of Applied Ecology* 21: 47-58.
- Kogel KH, Franken P, Huckelhoven R. 2006. Endophyte or parasite what decides? *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 9: 358-363.
- Koide RT, Li M. 1989. Appropriate controls for vesicular–arbuscular mycorrhiza research. *New Phytologist* 111: 35-44.
- Koricheva J, Gange AC, Jones T. 2009. Effects of mycorrhizal fungi on insect herbivores: A meta-analysis. *Ecology* 90: 2088-2097.
- Krishna H, Singh SK, Sharma RR, Khawale RN, Grover M, Patel VB. 2005. Biochemical changes in micropropagated grape (*vitis vinifera* 1.) plantlets due to arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungi (amf) inoculation during ex vitro acclimatization. *Scientia Horticulturae* 106: 554-567.
- Lee J, Scagel CF. 2009. Chicoric acid found in basil (*ocimum basilicum* 1.) leaves. Food Chemistry 115: 650-656.
- Lehmann A, Barto EK, Powell J, Rillig M. 2012. Mycorrhizal responsiveness trends in annual crop plants and their wild relativesâ∉'a meta-analysis on studies from 1981 to 2010. *Plant and Soil* 355: 231-250.
- Leitner M, Kaiser R, Hause B, Boland W, Mithofer A. 2010. Does mycorrhization influence herbivore-induced volatile emission in *medicago truncatula? Mycorrhiza* 20: 89-101.
- Liu S, Lee I-M, Ajani U, Cole SR, Buring JE, Manson JE. 2001. Intake of vegetables rich in carotenoids and risk of coronary heart disease in men: The physicians' health study. *International Journal of Epidemiology* **30**: 130-135.
- Lu J, Robert CAM, Riemann M, Cosme M, Mène-Saffrané L, Massana J, Stout MJ, Lou Y, Gershenzon J, Erb M. 2015. Induced jasmonate signaling leads to contrasting effects on root damage and herbivore performance. *Plant Physiology*.
- Ludwig-Müller J, Bennett RN, García-Garrido JM, Piché Y, Vierheilig H. 2002. Reduced arbuscular mycorrhizal root colonization in *tropaeolum majus* and *carica papaya* after jasmonic acid application can not be attributed to increased glucosinolate levels. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **159**: 517-523.

- Luo A, Qian Q, Yin H, Liu X, Yin C, Lan Y, Tang J, Tang Z, Cao S, Wang X, Xia K, Fu X, Luo D, Chu C. 2006. *Euil*, encoding a putative cytochrome p450 monooxygenase, regulates internode elongation by modulating gibberellin responses in rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 47: 181-191.
- Lupi D, Cenghialta C, Colombo M. 2009. Adult feeding by the rice water weevil *lissorhoptrus* oryzophilus on different host plants. *Bulletin of Insectology* 62: 229-236.
- Maherali H, Klironomos JN. 2007. Influence of phylogeny on fungal community assembly and ecosystem functioning. *Science* **316**: 1746-1748.
- Marschner H. 1995. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. London: Acadamic.
- Marschner H, Dell B. 1994. Nutrient uptake in mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Plant and Soil* 159: 89-102.
- Martín-Rodríguez JÁ, León-Morcillo R, Vierheilig H, Ocampo JA, Ludwig-Müller J, García-Garrido JM. 2011. Ethylene-dependent/ethylene-independent aba regulation of tomato plants colonized by arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi. *New Phytologist* **190**: 193-205.
- Matschi S, Hake K, Herde M, Hause B, Romeis T. 2015. The calcium-dependent protein kinase cpk28 regulates development by inducing growth phase-specific, spatially restricted alterations in jasmonic acid levels independent of defense responses in arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell Online*.
- Mayer JE, Pfeiffer WH, Beyer P. 2008. Biofortified crops to alleviate micronutrient malnutrition. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11: 166-170.
- McConn M, Creelman RA, Bell E, Mullet JE, Browse J. 1997. Jasmonate is essential for insect defense in *arabidopsis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 94: 5473-5477.
- McGonigle TP, Miller MH, Evans DG, Fairchild GL, Swan JA. 1990. A new method which gives an objective measure of colonization of roots by vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist* 115: 495-501.
- Mena-Violante HG, Ocampo-Jiménez O, Dendooven L, Martínez-Soto G, González-Castañeda J, Davies FT, Olalde-Portugal V. 2006. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi enhance fruit growth and quality of chile ancho (*capsicum annuum* l. Cv san luis) plants exposed to drought. *Mycorrhiza* 16: 261-267.
- Meyer RS, Purugganan MD. 2013. Evolution of crop species: Genetics of domestication and diversification. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 14: 840-852.
- Moons A, Prinsen E, Bauw G, Montagu MV. 1997. Antagonistic effects of abscisic acid and jasmonates on salt stress-inducible transcripts in rice roots. *The Plant Cell* 9: 2243-2259.
- Moose SP, Mumm RH. 2008. Molecular plant breeding as the foundation for 21st century crop improvement. *Plant Physiology* 147: 969-977.
- Morris CE, Sands DC. 2006. The breeder's dilemma yield or nutrition? *Nature Biotechnology* 24: 1078-1080.
- Mosse B, Hepper C. 1975. Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal infections in root organ cultures. *Physiological Plant Pathology* 5: 215-223.
- Ndiege IO, Budenberg WJ, Otieno DO, Hassanali A. 1996. 1,8-cineole: An attractant for the banana weevil, *cosmopolites sordidus*. *Phytochemistry* **42**: 369-371.
- Nell M, Vötsch M, Vierheilig H, Steinkellner S, Zitterl-Eglseer K, Franz C, Novak J. 2009. Effect of phosphorus uptake on growth and secondary metabolites of garden sage (*salvia* officinalis 1.). Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture **89**: 1090-1096.

- Nouri E, Breuillin-Sessoms F, Feller U, Reinhardt D. 2014. Phosphorus and nitrogen regulate arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis in *petunia hybrida*. *Plos One* **9**: e90841.
- Omer AD, Thaler JS, Granett J, Karban R. 2000. Jasmonic acid induced resistance in grapevines to a root and leaf feeder. *Journal of Economic Entomology* 93: 840-845.
- Pandey A, Pradheep K, Gupta R, Nayar ER, Bhandari D. 2011. 'drumstick tree' (moringa oleifera lam.): A multipurpose potential species in india. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 58: 453-460.
- Pathak MD, Khan ZR. 1994. Insect pests of rice. Manila: International Rice Research Institute.
- Perez AL, Campos Y, Chinchilla CM, Oehlschlager AC, Gries G, Gries R, Giblin-Davis RM, Castrillo G, Peña JE, Duncan RE, Gonzalez LM, Pierce HD, McDonald R, Andrade R. 1997. Aggregation pheromones and host kairomones of west indian sugarcane weevil, *metamasius hemipterus* sericeus. Journal of Chemical Ecology 23: 869-888.
- Phillips JM, Hayman DS. 1970. Improved procedures for clearing roots and staining parasitic and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for rapid assessment of infection. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society* **55**: 158-&.
- Pieterse CMJ, Zamioudis C, Berendsen RL, Weller DM, Van Wees SCM, Bakker PAHM. 2014. Induced systemic resistance by beneficial microbes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 52: 347-375.
- Poveda K, Jiménez MIG, Kessler A. 2010. The enemy as ally: Herbivore-induced increase in crop yield. *Ecological Applications* 20: 1787-1793.
- **Pozo MJ, López-Ráez JA, Azcón-Aguilar C, García-Garrido JM. 2015.** Phytohormones as integrators of environmental signals in the regulation of mycorrhizal symbioses. *New Phytologist* **205**: 1431-1436.
- Qiang X, Weiss M, Kogel K-H, Schäfer P. 2012. *Piriformospora indica*—a mutualistic basidiomycete with an exceptionally large plant host range. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 13: 508-518.
- Radovich TJK, Habte M. 2009. Arbuscular mycorrhizal dependency of three moringa genotypes. *Hortscience* 44: 1025-1026.
- Raghothama KG. 1999. Phosphate acquisition. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 50: 665-693.
- Redecker D, Kodner R, Graham LE. 2000. Glomalean fungi from the ordovician. *Science* 289: 1920-1921.
- Riemann M, Riemann M, Takano M. 2008. Rice *jasmonate resistant 1* is involved in phytochrome and jasmonate signalling. *Plant, Cell & Environment* **31**: 783-792.
- Rillig MC. 2004. Arbuscular mycorrhizae and terrestrial ecosystem processes. *Ecology Letters* 7: 740-754.
- **Rillig MC, Allen MF, Klironomos JN, Chiariello NR, Field CB. 1998.** Plant species-specific changes in root-inhabiting fungi in a california annual grassland: Responses to elevated co₂ and nutrients. *Oecologia* **113**: 252-259.
- Robert CAM, Ferrieri RA, Schirmer S, Babst BA, Schueller MJ, Machado RAR, Arce CCM, Hibbard BE, Gershenzon J, Turlings TCJ, Erb M. 2014. Induced carbon reallocation and compensatory growth as root herbivore tolerance mechanisms. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 37: 2613-2622.
- Rodriguez RJ, White Jr JF, Arnold AE, Redman RS. 2009. Fungal endophytes: Diversity and functional roles. *New Phytologist* 182: 314-330.

- Ryan PR, Dessaux Y, Thomashow LS, Weller DM. 2009. Rhizosphere engineering and management for sustainable agriculture. *Plant and Soil* 321: 363-383.
- Sakamoto T, Miura K, Itoh H, Tatsumi T, Ueguchi-Tanaka M, Ishiyama K, Kobayashi M, Agrawal GK, Takeda S, Abe K, Miyao A, Hirochika H, Kitano H, Ashikari M, Matsuoka M. 2004. An overview of gibberellin metabolism enzyme genes and their related mutants in rice. *Plant Physiology* 134: 1642-1653.
- Sands DC, Morris CE, Dratz EA, Pilgeram AL. 2009. Elevating optimal human nutrition to a central goal of plant breeding and production of plant-based foods. *Plant Science* 177: 377-389.
- Schäfer P, Pfiffi S, Voll LM, Zajic D, Chandler PM, Waller F, Scholz U, Pons-Kühnemann J, Sonnewald S, Sonnewald U, Kogel K-H. 2009. Manipulation of plant innate immunity and gibberellin as factor of compatibility in the mutualistic association of barley roots with *piriformospora indica*. *The Plant Journal* 59: 461-474.
- Schmülling T, Werner T, Riefler M, Krupková E, Manns IBY. 2003. Structure and function of cytokinin oxidase/dehydrogenase genes of maize, rice, *arabidopsis* and other species. *Journal of Plant Research* 116: 241-252.
- Schulz B, Boyle C. 2005. The endophytic continuum. Mycological Research 109: 661-686.
- Schwarz D, Welter S, George E, Franken P, Lehmann K, Weckwerth W, Dölle S, Worm M. 2011. Impact of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on the allergenic potential of tomato. *Mycorrhiza* 21: 341-349.
- Secilia J, Bagyaraj DJ. 1994. Evaluation and first-year field testing of efficient vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for inoculation of wetland rice seedlings. World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology 10: 381-384.
- Shaul-Keinan O, Gadkar V, Ginzberg I, Grunzweig JM, Chet I, Elad Y, Wininger S, Belausov E, Eshed Y, Arzmon N, Ben-Tal Y, Kapulnik Y. 2002. Hormone concentrations in tobacco roots change during arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization with glomus intraradices. New Phytologist 154: 501-507.
- Siddiky MRK, Kohler J, Cosme M, Rillig MC. 2012. Soil biota effects on soil structure: Interactions between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal mycelium and collembola. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 50: 33-39.
- Simon L, Bousquet J, Levesque RC, Lalonde M. 1993. Origin and diversification of endomycorrhizal fungi and coincidence with vascular land plants. *Nature* 363: 67-69.
- Smith F, Smith S. 2011. What is the significance of the arbuscular mycorrhizal colonisation of many economically important crop plants? *Plant and Soil* 348: 63-79.
- Smith FA, Jakobsen I, Smith SE. 2000. Spatial differences in acquisition of soil phosphate between two arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in symbiosis with *medicago truncatula*. New Phytologist 147: 357-366.
- Smith SE, Read DJ. 2008. Mycorrhizal symbiosis. London: Academic Press.
- Smith SE, Smith FA. 2011. Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant nutrition and growth: New paradigms from cellular to ecosystem scales. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 62: 227-250.
- **Solaiman MZ, Hirata H. 1995.** Effects of indigenous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in paddy fields on rice growth and n, p, k nutrition under different water regimes. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* **41**: 505-514.

- Soler R, Bezemer T, Cortesero A, Van der Putten W, Vet L, Harvey J. 2007. Impact of foliar herbivory on the development of a root-feeding insect and its parasitoid. *Oecologia* 152: 257-264.
- Soler R, Harvey JA, Rouchet R, Schaper SV, Martijn Bezemer T. 2010. Impacts of belowground herbivory on oviposition decisions in two congeneric butterfly species. *Entomologia Experimentalis Et Applicata* **136**: 191-198.
- Soler R, Schaper SV, Bezemer TM, Cortesero AM, Hoffmeister TS, Van Der Putten WH, Vet LEM, Harvey JA. 2009. Influence of presence and spatial arrangement of belowground insects on host-plant selection of aboveground insects: A field study. *Ecological Entomology* 34: 339-345.
- Sparks E, Wachsman G, Benfey PN. 2013. Spatiotemporal signalling in plant development. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 14: 631-644.
- Städler E 2002. Plant chemical cues important for egg deposition by herbivorous insects. In: M. HilkerT. Meiners eds. Chemoecology of insect eggs and egg deposition. Berlin: Blackwell Publishing, 171-204.
- Staswick PE, Su W, Howell SH. 1992. Methyl jasmonate inhibition of root growth and induction of a leaf protein are decreased in an *arabidopsis thaliana* mutant. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences **89**: 6837-6840.
- Steinmetz KA, Potter JD. 1996. Vegetables, fruit, and cancer prevention: A review. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 96: 1027-1039.
- Stout MJ, Hamm JC, Abbe I, Bergeron C. 2013. The influence of rice plant age on susceptibility to the rice water weevil, *lissorhoptrus oryzophilus*. Journal of Applied Entomology 137: 241-248.
- Stout MJ, Rice WC, Linscombe SD, Bollich PK. 2001. Identification of rice cultivars resistant to *lissorhoptrus oryzophilus* (coleoptera: Curculionidae), and their use in an integrated management program. *Journal of Economic Entomology* 94: 963-970.
- Stout MJ, Riggio MR. 2002. Variation in susceptibility of rice lines to infestation by the rice water weevil (coleoptera: Curculionidae). *Journal of Agricultural and Urban Entomology* 19: 205-216.
- Stout MJ, Riggio MR, Zou L, Roberts R. 2002. Flooding influences ovipositional and feeding behavior of the rice water weevil (coleoptera: Curculionidae). *Journal of Economic Entomology* 95: 715-721.
- Strauss SY, Agrawal AA. 1999. The ecology and evolution of plant tolerance to herbivory. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 14: 179-185.
- Sun XL, Wang GC, Cai XM, Jin S, Gao Y, Chen ZM. 2010. The tea weevil, myllocerinus aurolineatus, is attracted to volatiles induced by conspecifics. Journal of Chemical Ecology 36: 388-395.
- Tindall KV, Stout MJ. 2003. Use of common weeds of rice as hosts for the rice water weevil (coleoptera: Curculionidae). *Environmental Entomology* **32**: 1227-1233.
- Tisserant E, Kohler A, Dozolme-Seddas P, Balestrini R, Benabdellah K, Colard A, Croll D, Da Silva C, Gomez SK, Koul R, Ferrol N, Fiorilli V, Formey D, Franken P, Helber N, Hijri M, Lanfranco L, Lindquist E, Liu Y, Malbreil M, Morin E, Poulain J, Shapiro H, van Tuinen D, Waschke A, Azcón-Aguilar C, Bécard G, Bonfante P, Harrison MJ, Küster H, Lammers P, Paszkowski U, Requena N, Rensing SA, Roux C, Sanders IR, Shachar-Hill Y, Tuskan G, Young JPW, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Martin F. 2011. The transcriptome of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus glomus

intraradices (daom 197198) reveals functional tradeoffs in an obligate symbiont. *New Phytologist* **193**: 755-769.

- Tong Y, Gabriel-Neumann E, Ngwene B, Krumbein A, Baldermann S, Schreiner M, George E. 2013. Effects of single and mixed inoculation with two arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in two different levels of phosphorus supply on β -carotene concentrations in sweet potato (*ipomoea batatas* 1.) tubers. *Plant and Soil* 372: 361-374.
- **Torelli A, Trotta A, Acerbi L, Arcidiacono G, Berta G, Branca C. 2000.** Iaa and zr content in leek (*allium porrum* 1.), as influenced by p nutrition and arbuscular mycorrhizae, in relation to plant development. *Plant and Soil* **226**: 29-35.
- Traka M, Mithen R. 2009. Glucosinolates, isothiocyanates and human health. *Phytochemistry Reviews* 8: 269 282.
- **Ubeda-Tomás S, Federici F, Casimiro I, Beemster GTS, Bhalerao R, Swarup R, Doerner P, Haseloff J, Bennett MJ. 2009.** Gibberellin signaling in the endodermis controls *arabidopsis* root meristem size. *Current biology : CB* **19**: 1194-1199.
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2015. World population prospects: The 2015 revision, key findings and advance tables. Working paper no. Esa/p/wp.241.
- Vadassery J, Reichelt M, Hause B, Gershenzon J, Boland W, Mithöfer A. 2012. Cml42mediated calcium signaling coordinates responses to *spodoptera* herbivory and abiotic stresses in *arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* **159**: 1159-1175.
- van der Heijden MGA, Martin FM, Selosse M-A, Sanders IR. 2015. Mycorrhizal ecology and evolution: The past, the present, and the future. *New Phytologist* 205: 1406-1423.
- van Rhijn P, Fang Y, Galili S, Shaul O, Atzmon N, Wininger S, Eshed Y, Lum M, Li Y, To V, Fujishige N, Kapulnik Y, Hirsch AM. 1997. Expression of early nodulin genes in alfalfa mycorrhizae indicates that signal transduction pathways used in forming arbuscular mycorrhizae and *rhizobium*-induced nodules may be conserved. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 94: 5467-5472.
- Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A, Speleman F. 2002. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative rt-pcr data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biology* 3: 1-12.
- Varma A, Savita Verma, Sudha, Sahay N, Butehorn B, Franken P. 1999. *Piriformospora indica*, a cultivable plant-growth-promoting root endophyte. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 65: 2741-2744.
- Verbruggen E, van der Heijden MGA, Rillig MC, Kiers ET. 2013. Mycorrhizal fungal establishment in agricultural soils: Factors determining inoculation success. *New Phytologist* **197**: 1104-1109.
- Veresoglou SD, Shaw LJ, Hooker JE, Sen R. 2012. Arbuscular mycorrhizal modulation of diazotrophic and denitrifying microbial communities in the (mycor)rhizosphere of *plantago lanceolata. Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 53: 78-81.
- Verma S, Varma A, Rexer K-H, Hassel A, Kost G, Sarbhoy A, Bisen P, Bütehorn B, Franken P. 1998. *Piriformospora indica*, gen. Et sp. Nov., a new root-colonizing fungus. *Mycologia* 90: 896-903.
- Vierheilig H, Bennett R, Kiddle G, Kaldorf M, Ludwig-Müller J. 2000. Differences in glucosinolate patterns and arbuscular mycorrhizal status of glucosinolate-containing plant species. *New Phytologist* 146: 343-352.

- Vierheilig H, Coughlan AP, Wyss U, Piche Y. 1998. Ink and vinegar, a simple staining technique for arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungi. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 64: 5004-5007.
- Wakefield ME, Bryning GP, Chambers J. 2005. Progress towards a lure to attract three stored product weevils, *sitophilus zeamais* motschulsky, *s. Oryzae* (l.) and *s. Granarius* (l.) (coleoptera: Curculionidae). *Journal of Stored Products Research* 41: 145-161.
- Waller F, Achatz B, Baltruschat H, Fodor J, Becker K, Fischer M, Heier T, Hückelhoven R, Neumann C, von Wettstein D, Franken P, Kogel K-H. 2005. The endophytic fungus *piriformospora indica* reprograms barley to salt-stress tolerance, disease resistance, and higher yield. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102: 13386-13391.
- Waller F, Mukherjee K, Deshmukh SD, Achatz B, Sharma M, Schäfer P, Kogel K-H. 2008. Systemic and local modulation of plant responses by *piriformospora indica* and related sebacinales species. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 165: 60-70.
- Wang B, Qiu YL. 2006. Phylogenetic distribution and evolution of mycorrhizas in land plants. *Mycorrhiza* 16: 299-363.
- Wang B, Yeun LH, Xue JY, Liu Y, Ane JM, Qiu YL. 2010. Presence of three mycorrhizal genes in the common ancestor of land plants suggests a key role of mycorrhizas in the colonization of land by plants. *New Phytologist* 186: 514-525.
- Wang Y, Kays SJ. 2002. Sweetpotato volatile chemistry in relation to sweetpotato weevil (cylas formicarius) behavior. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 127: 656-662.
- Wardle DA, Bardgett RD, Klironomos JN, Setälä H, van der Putten WH, Wall DH. 2004. Ecological linkages between aboveground and belowground biota. *Science* **304**: 1629-1633.
- Wasternack C, Hause B. 2014. Jasmonates: Biosynthesis, perception, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. An update to the 2007 review in annals of botany. *Annals of Botany* 111: 1021-1058.
- Weiß M, Sýkorová Z, Garnica S, Riess K, Martos F, Krause C, Oberwinkler F, Bauer R, Redecker D. 2011. Sebacinales everywhere: Previously overlooked ubiquitous fungal endophytes. *Plos One* 6: e16793.
- Welch RM, Graham RD. 1999. A new paradigm for world agriculture: Meeting human needs productive, sustainable, nutritious. *Field Crops Research* 60: 1-10.
- Werner T, Holst K, Pörs Y, Guivarc'h A, Mustroph A, Chriqui D, Grimm B, Schmülling T. 2008. Cytokinin deficiency causes distinct changes of sink and source parameters in tobacco shoots and roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59: 2659-2672.
- Werner T, Motyka V, Laucou V, Smets R, Van Onckelen H, Schmülling T. 2003. Cytokinindeficient transgenic *arabidopsis* plants show multiple developmental alterations indicating opposite functions of cytokinins in the regulation of shoot and root meristem activity. *The Plant Cell* **15**: 2532-2550.
- Werner T, Motyka V, Strnad M, Schmülling T. 2001. Regulation of plant growth by cytokinin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98: 10487-10492.
- Werner T, Nehnevajova E, Köllmer I, Novák O, Strnad M, Krämer U, Schmülling T. 2010. Root-specific reduction of cytokinin causes enhanced root growth, drought tolerance, and

leaf mineral enrichment in *arabidopsis* and tobacco. *The Plant Cell Online* **22**: 3905-3920.

- Werner T, Schmülling T. 2009. Cytokinin action in plant development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12: 527-538.
- White PJ, Broadley MR. 2009. Biofortification of crops with seven mineral elements often lacking in human diets iron, zinc, copper, calcium, magnesium, selenium and iodine. *New Phytologist* 182: 49-84.
- Wilson D. 1995. Endophyte: The evolution of a term, and clarification of its use and definition. *Oikos* 73: 274-276.
- Wolfe BE, Mummey DL, Rillig MC, Klironomos JN. 2007. Small-scale spatial heterogeneity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal abundance and community composition in a wetland plant community. *Mycorrhiza* 17: 175-183.
- World Health Organization 2013. The top 10 causes of death.In. Fact sheet N°310. World Health Organization.
- Wurst S, Dugassa-Gobena D, Langel R, Bonkowski M, Scheu S. 2004. Combined effects of earthworms and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizas on plant and aphid performance. *New Phytologist* 163: 169-176.
- Wurst S, Forstreuter M. 2010. Colonization of tanacetum vulgare by aphids is reduced by earthworms. *Entomologia Experimentalis Et Applicata* 137: 86-92.
- Wurst S, Jones TH. 2003. Indirect effects of earthworms (*aporrectodea caliginosa*) on an above-ground tritrophic interaction. *Pedobiologia* 47: 91-97.
- Yamato M, Ikeda S, Iwase K. 2009. Community of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in droughtresistant plants, *moringa* spp., in semiarid regions in madagascar and uganda. *Mycoscience* 50: 100-105.
- Yang D-L, Yao J, Mei C-S, Tong X-H, Zeng L-J, Li Q, Xiao L-T, Sun T-p, Li J, Deng X-W, Lee CM, Thomashow MF, Yang Y, He Z, He SY. 2012. Plant hormone jasmonate prioritizes defense over growth by interfering with gibberellin signaling cascade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109: E1192-E1200.
- Yao Q, Zhu HH, Chen JZ. 2005. Growth responses and endogenous iaa and ipas changes of litchi (*litchi chinensis* sonn.) seedlings induced by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal inoculation. *Scientia Horticulturae* 105: 145-151.
- Yu N, Luo D, Zhang X, Liu J, Wang W, Jin Y, Dong W, Liu J, Liu H, Yang W, Zeng L, Li Q, He Z, Oldroyd GED, Wang E. 2014. A della protein complex controls the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis in plants. *Cell Research* 24: 130-133.
- Yuan JS, Kollner TG, Wiggins G, Grant J, Degenhardt J, Chen F. 2008. Molecular and genomic basis of volatile-mediated indirect defense against insects in rice. *Plant Journal* 55: 491-503.
- Zeng Y, Guo LP, Chen BD, Hao ZP, Wang JY, Huang LQ, Yang G, Cui XM, Yang L, Wu ZX, Chen ML, Zhang Y. 2013. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and active ingredients of medicinal plants: Current research status and prospectives. *Mycorrhiza* 23: 253-265.
- **Zhang Z-P, Baldwin IT. 1997.** Transport of [2-¹⁴c]jasmonic acid from leaves to roots mimics wound-induced changes in endogenous jasmonic acid pools in *nicotiana sylvestris*. *Planta* **203**: 436-441.

- Zhang ZT, Stout MJ, Shang HW, Pousson RC. 2004. A method for rearing the rice water weevil, *lissorhoptrus oryzophilus* (coleoptera: Curculionidae), in the laboratory. *Coleopterists Bulletin* 58: 644-651.
- Zhu Y, Nomura T, Xu Y, Zhang Y, Peng Y, Mao B, Hanada A, Zhou H, Wang R, Li P, Zhu X, Mander LN, Kamiya Y, Yamaguchi S, He Z. 2006. Elongated uppermost internode encodes a cytochrome p450 monooxygenase that epoxidizes gibberellins in a novel deactivation reaction in rice. The Plant Cell Online 18: 442-456.
- Zou L, Stout MJ, Ring DR. 2004. Density-yield relationships for rice water weevil on rice for different varieties and under different water management regimes. Crop Protection 23: 543-550.
- Zvereva E, Kozlov M. 2012. Sources of variation in plant responses to belowground insect herbivory: A meta-analysis. *Oecologia* 169: 441-452.

Acknowledgments

The Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia provided vital support to my thesis with the PhD grant SFRH/BD/81785/2011. I am thankful to Prof. Dr. Pedro Antunes, who help me to write the grant proposal. Great support to my research and education was also provided by the Dahlem Center of Plant Sciences and the Leipzig Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops. To all coauthors and to those acknowledge in the chapters II to V, my reinforced recognition for their significant contributions and help. I am particularly indebted to Prof. Dr. Philipp Franken for the cordial supervision, generous support and seminal conversations through my PhD studies as well as for the crucial lab support to chapter IV. I am thankful to Prof. Dr. Matthias Erb for the constructive criticism and fundamental supervision in chapter IV, to Prof. Dr. Thomas Schmülling for the prime mentoring of my writing in chapter V, to Prof. Dr. Susanne Wurst for the main supervision and numerous comments, to Prof. Dr. Michael J Stout for the friendly and long lasting collaboration, and to Prof. Dr. Ferdinand Hucho for formal comments on this thesis. Finally, a special thanks to my room colleague Dr. Conrad Schittko, one of the best colleagues ever, and to all those that directly or indirectly contributed to a productive and pleasant work atmosphere in the Functional Biodiversity group at the Freie Universität Berlin, the Root Endophytes group at the Leipzig Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops, and the Root-Herbivore Interactions group at the Max-Plank Institute for Chemical Ecology.









For reasons of data protection, the curriculum vitae is not published in the electronic version.